An Economic and Life Cycle Analysis of Regional Land Use and Transportation Plans





MTI Report 11-25







MINETA TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

The Norman Y. Mineta International Institute for Surface Transportation Policy Studies (MTI) was established by Congress as part of the Intermodal Surface Transportation Efficiency Act of 1991. Reauthorized in 1998, MTI was selected by the U.S. Department of Transportation through a competitive process in 2002 as a national "Center of Excellence." The Institute is funded by Congress through the United States Department of Transportation's Research and Innovative Technology Administration, the California Legislature through the Department of Transportation (Caltrans), and by private grants and donations.

The Institute receives oversight from an internationally respected Board of Trustees whose members represent all major surface transportation modes. MTI's focus on policy and management resulted from a Board assessment of the industry's unmet needs and led directly to the choice of the San José State University College of Business as the Institute's home. The Board provides policy direction, assists with needs assessment, and connects the Institute and its programs with the international transportation community.

MTI's transportation policy work is centered on three primary responsibilities:

Research

MTI works to provide policy-oriented research for all levels of government and the private sector to foster the development of optimum surface transportation systems. Research areas include: transportation security; planning and policy development; interrelationships among transportation, land use, and the environment; transportation finance; and collaborative labormanagement relations. Certified Research Associates conduct the research. Certification requires an advanced degree, generally a Ph.D., a record of academic publications, and professional references. Research projects culminate in a peer-reviewed publication, available both in hardcopy and on TransWeb, the MTI website (http://transweb.sjsu.edu).

Education

The educational goal of the Institute is to provide graduate-level education to students seeking a career in the development and operation of surface transportation programs. MTI, through San José State University, offers an AACSB-accredited Master of Science in Transportation Management and a graduate Certificate in Transportation Management that serve to prepare the nation's transportation managers for the 21st century. The master's degree is the highest conferred by the California State University system. With the active assistance of the California Department of Transportation, MTI delivers its classes over a state-ofthe-art videoconference network throughout the state of California and via webcasting beyond, allowing working transportation professionals to pursue an advanced degree regardless of their location. To meet the needs of employers seeking a diverse workforce, MTI's education program promotes enrollment to under-represented groups.

Information and Technology Transfer

MTI promotes the availability of completed research to professional organizations and journals and works to integrate the research findings into the graduate education program. In addition to publishing the studies, the Institute also sponsors symposia to disseminate research results to transportation professionals and encourages Research Associates to present their findings at conferences. The World in Motion, MTI's quarterly newsletter, covers innovation in the Institute's research and education programs. MTI's extensive collection of transportation-related publications is integrated into San José State University's world-class Martin Luther King, Jr. Library.

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the U.S. Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program and the California Department of Transportation, in the interest of information exchange. This report does not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the U.S. government, State of California, or the Mineta Transportation Institute, who assume no liability for the contents or use thereof. This report does not constitute a standard specification, design standard, or regulation. The views and conclusions contained in this document are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as necessarily representing the official policies, either expressed or implied, of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security. **REPORT 11-25**

AN ECONOMIC AND LIFE CYCLE ANALYSIS OF REGIONAL LAND USE AND TRANSPORTATION PLANS

Caroline Rodier, Ph.D. Elliot Martin, Ph.D. Margot Spiller, M.S. John Abraham, Ph.D. Doug Hunt, Ph.D.

June 2012

A publication of **Mineta Transportation Institute** Created by Congress in 1991

College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

TECHNICAL REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

1.	Report No. CA-MTI-12-1008	2. Government Acession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.	
4.	Title and Subtitle An Economic and Life Cycle Analysis o	Regional Land Use and Transportation	5. Report Date June 2012	
	Plans		6. Performing Organization Code	
7.	Authors Caroline Rodier, Ph.D., Elliot Martin, Ph.D., Margot Spiller, M.S., John Abraham, Ph.D., and Doug Hunt, Ph.D.		8. Performing Organization Report MTI Report 11-25	
9.	Performing Organization Name and Address Mineta Transportation Institute		10. Work Unit No.	
	San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219		11. Contract or Grant No. DTRT07-G-0054	
12	Sponsoring Agency Name and Addre California Department of Transportation	U.S. Department of Transportation Research & Innovative Technology Admin. 1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE Washington, DC 20590	13. Type of Report and Period Covered Final Report	
	Office of Research—MS42 P.O. Box 942873 Sacramento, CA 94273-0001		14. Sponsoring Agency Code	
15	. Supplemental Notes			
Travel and emissions models are commonly applied to evaluate the change in passenger and commercial travel and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from land use and transportation plans. Analyses conducted by the Sacramento <i>J</i> of Governments predict a decline in such travel and emissions from their land use and transportation plan (the Blueprint" or PRB scenario) relative to a "Business-As-Usual" scenario (BAU). However, the lifecycle GHG effects due in production and consumption associated with transportation and land use plans are rarely, if ever, conducted. An conducted by the authors, applied a spatial economic model (Sacramento PECAS) to the PRB plan and found that transport, and rental costs increased producer and consumer surplus and production and consumption relative As a result, lifecycle GHG emissions from these upstream economic activities may increase. At the same time, life emissions associated with the manufacture of construction materials for housing may decline due to a shift in the plan luxury homes to smaller multi-family homes in the plan. To explore the net impact of these opposing GHG impacts study used the economic production and consumption data from the PRB and BAU scenarios as simulated with the PECAS model as inputs to estimate the change in lifecycle GHG emissions. The economic input-output lifecycle model is applied to evaluate effects related to changes in economic production and consumption as well as housing or non-compliance with Sustainable Communities Strategies (SCSs) under Senate Bill 375 (also known as the "anti-spr 375 does not require local governments to adopt general plans that are consistent with the land use plans included i thus such incentives could jeopardize implementation of SCSs and achievement of GHG goals. In this study, a set is simulated with the Sacramento PECAS model, in which multiple jurisdictions partially pursue the BAU at differin PRB is treated as a straw or example SCS. The scenarios are evaluated to understand how non-conformity may i supply of housing				
17	. Key Words	18. Distribution Statement		
	Land use planning; Transportation planning; Climate change; Life cycle analysis; Land use model	No restrictions. This document is availa The National Technical Information Ser	ble to the public through vice, Springfield, VA 22161	

19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Classif. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price		
Unclassified	Unclassified	72	\$15.00		

Copyright © 2012 by **Mineta Transportation Institute** All rights reserved

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 2012936930

To order this publication, please contact:

Mineta Transportation Institute College of Business San José State University San José, CA 95192-0219

Tel: (408) 924-7560 Fax: (408) 924-7565 Email: mineta-institute@sjsu.edu transweb.sjsu.edu

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Mineta Transportation Research Institute, the California Department of Transportation, the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG), the Transportation Sustainability Research Center at the University of California, Berkeley, and the Urban Land Use and Transportation Center (ULTRANS) at the University of California, Davis for supporting this research. In particular, we would like to thank Gordon Garry, Bruce Griesenbeck, and Raef Porter of SACOG; Kevin J. Stefan of HBA Specto Incorporated; and John Gibb of DKS Associates. A special thanks to Joshua Ma, Martin Brown, Brenda Dix, and David Gunther, undergraduate researchers at the University of California, Berkeley, for their assistance with this project. The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein.

The authors also thank MTI staff, including Deputy Executive Director and Research Director Karen Philbrick, Ph.D.; Director of Communications and Technology Transfer Donna Maurillo; Student Publications Assistant Sahil Rahimi; Student Research Support Assistant Joey Mercado; and Webmaster Frances Cherman. Additional editorial and publication support was provided by Editorial Associate Nancy Hannaford.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	
I. Introduction	5
II. Background	7
Legislative	7
Sacramento Region	7
Literature Review	10
III. The Sacramento PECAS Model	13
Basic Model System Modules	13
Implications	19
Calibration of the Pecas Activity Allocation Module	20
IV. Land Use and Transportation Scenarios	23
V. Life Cycle Analysis	25
Methods	25
Results	32
VI. Compliance and Non-Compliance	41
Methods	41
Results	41
VII. Conclusions	49
Appendix A: County Business Pattern Economic Breakdown of Sacramento By Eiolca Category By Pecas Output Sector	51
Abbreviations and Acronyms	59
Endnotes	61
Bibliography	65
About the Authors	69
Peer Review	

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	Household and Employment Location in the 2035 BAU and the PRB Scenarios	9
2.	Modules and Information Flows Simulating Temporal Dynamics	14
3.	Three-Level Nesting Structure Used in Activity Allocation Module	16
4.	Buying and Selling Allocations Resulting in Commodity Flows from Production Zone to Consumption Zone via Exchange Location	17
5.	Probability Density Functions of the Quantity Changes for the Different Housing Types	43
6.	Probability Density Function of Average Consumer Surplus	44
7.	Estimated Change in Regional Average Consumer Surplus versus Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units	45
8.	Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units versus Change in Regional Supply of Multi-Family Housing Units	46
9.	Estimated Change in Regional Average Consumer Surplus versus Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units	47

List of Figures

LIST OF TABLES

1.	PECAS Economic Activity Sectors	26
2.	Example of PECAS to NAICS to IO Category Mapping	28
3.	Payroll for Communications and Utilities within Sacramento MSA for NAICS-EIOLCA Sectors	29
4.	Assumptions Applied to Housing Data in EIOLCA	33
5.	EIOLCA Greenhouse Gas Impacts of the Sacramento Blueprint	34
6.	EIOLCA-Projected Change in Energy Use as a Result of PRB Relative to BAU	35
7.	EIOLCA-Projected Change in Toxic Releases as a Result of PRB	36
8.	EIOLCA-Projected Change in Water Use and Economic Activity as a Result of PRB	37
9.	Mean Change in Metrics for the PRB Relative to BAU	42
10.	Number of Scenarios by Direction of Supply Change by Housing Type in Non-Compliance Scenarios	44
11.	Mean and Standard Deviation of Average Consumer Surplus by Scenario Type	46

List of Tables

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

California led the nation by passing the first global warming legislation in the U.S. (AB 32: The Global Warming Solutions Act). California is now tasked with reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to 1990 levels by 2020 and 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. California Senate Bill 375 (SB 375) – commonly known as "California's anti-sprawl bill" – mandates regional GHG targets linked to land use and transportation plans (called Sustainable Community Strategies or SCSs).

This publication is the third in a series of studies funded by the Mineta Transportation Institute that applies a new form of spatial economic model to examine questions surrounding the economic effects, the distribution of those effects, and their implications for AB 32 and SB 375 implementation. The Sacramento PECAS land use model is used to simulate the Sacramento region's land use and transportation plan (also known as the "Preferred Blueprint" or PRB) and "Business-as-Usual" scenario (BAU). For study purposes, the PRB is treated as a proxy SCS.

The first publication¹ explores the AB 32 requirement that economic and equity effects of mechanisms (land use and transportation plans under SB 375) used to achieve GHG targets be evaluated prior to implementation. The second publication² investigates how a local government's decision to not comply with the SCS could change the geographic distribution of economic benefits and under what circumstances this change may be an incentive or disincentive for SCS implementation. The current publication builds on the second by exploring how changes in housing supply can drive local economic incentives or disincentives for compliance. The current study also includes an analysis of the life cycle GHG effects due to changes in production and consumption associated with the transportation and land use plans in the Sacramento region. This executive summary and report include findings from both the current and previous two publications. Taken as a whole, the results of these studies provide new and expanded policy insights.

ECONOMIC AND EQUITY EFFECTS

Advanced aggregate travel models and activity-based travel models have been applied in equity studies in the U.S. to evaluate the distribution of travel time and cost effects of land use and transportation policies across different socio-economic groups. However, new forms of spatial economic models represent the interactions between the transportation system and the broader economic system. These enable equity evaluations that encompass a wider range of impacts such as employment, wages, rents, as well as consumer and producer surplus by household types and industry sectors.

In the first publication, the results of the simulation of PRB and BAU scenarios with the Sacramento PECAS model suggest that a more compact urban form designed around transit stations (in the PRB scenario) can reduce private travel costs and rents. This may lead to overall net economic benefits (consumer and producer surpluses) for the region, even when the total size of the economy is held constant. Increased accessibility tends to benefit industry directly and indirectly (through reduced labor costs). Low-income households tend to benefit from a greater supply of lower rent, multi-family housing and

improved travel conditions. The reduced supply and higher cost of large, luxury singlefamily housing units tend to result in consumer surplus losses for the higher income groups in the region.

The Sacramento PECAS model was largely developed with data collected before 2007 that indicate a general consumer preference for larger single-family homes. However, a number of recent studies³ report a possible shift in consumer preferences toward smaller homes in smart growth communities resulting from factors other than the 2008 economic downturn, for example, strong consumer interest in "green" homes with lower energy costs. The size of a home makes a significant contribution to the energy it consumes. A change in consumer preferences could mitigate losses to higher income groups that result from a reduced supply of larger, luxury single-family housing units.

INCENTIVES AND DISINCENTIVES FOR IMPLEMENTATION

The second⁴ and current publications address implementation questions surrounding SCSs under SB 375 to meet GHG goals. SB 375 does not require local governments to adopt general plans that are consistent with the land use plans included in SCSs. Instead, SB 375 strengthens and places emphasis on "bottom up" public participation processes to enable the development of and support for plans that meet GHG goals. The bill also relies on incentives for implementation that include transportation funding and California Environmental Quality Act streamlining.

The spatial economic framework of the Sacramento PECAS model allows for an analysis of the economic incentives and disincentives faced by jurisdictions charged with implementing the regional land use plans. Such jurisdictions may face significant pressures from developers, if as the first study indicates, the supply of luxury single-family housing falls significantly short of the demand.

In the second study, the application of the Sacramento PECAS model is expanded to explore conditions under which some jurisdictions may benefit from non-conformity with the PRB and how such a decision may affect the economic welfare of other jurisdictions as well as the region as a whole. In general, the results of the study suggest that if non-conformity leads to further decentralization of the region, then the region as a whole – and, to a greater or lesser extent, the non-conforming jurisdictions – would suffer economic losses due to higher costs for business operations. The exception is when non-conformity enables the production of more, large, luxury single-family housing at a cost that offsets higher private transportation costs required to access the outlying area.

In the current study, a different set of non-compliance scenarios are developed in which multiple jurisdictions partially pursue the BAU at differing rates. The focus is on how non-conformity may influence the supply of housing by type, and holding other factors constant, the geographic and income distribution of rents, wages, commute costs, and consumer surplus. On average, when non-conformity increases the supply of larger, luxury single-family homes in non-complying jurisdictions, the average household in those jurisdictions experiences increased economic benefits, while the average household elsewhere experiences economic losses. The total net benefits in the non-complying jurisdictions are

large enough to offset the losses in complying jurisdictions to produce net benefits for the average regional household. However, when non-conformity increases in both luxury and standard single-family housing, then economic benefits decline for the average household in all jurisdictions. At this point, the more heavily weighted gains of the higher income households are not great enough to offset the less heavily weighted losses of the lower income classes.

LIFE CYCLE GREENHOUSE GAS EFFECTS

Travel and emissions models are commonly applied to evaluate the change in passenger and commercial travel and associated GHG emissions from land use and transportation plans. Analyses conducted by the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG)⁵ predict a decline in such travel and emissions in the PRB relative to the BAU scenario. However, the life cycle GHG effects due to changes in production and consumption associated with transportation and land use plans are rarely, if ever, conducted.

As described above, lower labor, transport, and rental costs in the PRB scenario increase producer and consumer surpluses, and production and consumption relative to the BAU. As a result, life cycle GHG emissions from these upstream economic activities may increase. At the same time, life cycle GHG emissions associated with the manufacture of construction materials for housing may decline due to a shift from larger luxury homes to smaller multi-family homes. The net impact of these opposing GHG impacts is not well understood.

To explore this issue, the current study uses the economic production and consumption data from the PRB and BAU scenarios, as simulated with the Sacramento PECAS model, as inputs to estimate the change in life cycle GHG emissions. The Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment model (EIOLCA) is applied to evaluate effects related to changes in economic production and consumption as well as housing construction.⁶ The EIOLCA model is a publicly available lifecycle assessment model of upstream emissions impacts resulting from economic activity within a particular sector. The model is produced and maintained by Carnegie Mellon University's Green Design Institute.

The results indicate that total CO₂e (carbon dioxide equivalent) would increase by 1,037,864 metric tons from upstream economic activities derived from consumption in the PRB scenario relative to the BAU over 25 years. However, a commensurate shift in construction from larger luxury to smaller single- and multi-family homes causes a reduction in upstream emissions that is estimated at a larger 2,165,959 metric tons. Changes in economic activities may be underestimated in the PRB scenario because of the assumption of constant total economic size. However, to put the relative impacts in perspective, the difference between economic activities (from the BAU to the PRB) would have to at least double to offset the reductions in GHG emissions from housing construction.

It is important to note that the analysis of life cycle GHG emissions includes production, but not the use of goods and services demanded by consumers or purchasers in each scenario. GHG emissions from the distribution and use of the transportation system is estimated to decline in the PRB relative to the BAU, as discussed above; however, it is unclear how use of products and services might impact the results of this study.

KEY FINDINGS, IMPLICATIONS, AND POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

- Coordinated land use and transportation plans, such as those envisioned by SB 375, may reduce housing, transport, and labor costs and increase net economic benefits.
- A shift in the supply of larger, luxury single-family to multi-family housing in land use and transportation plans may benefit all but the highest income household (assuming consumer preferences remain constant from the year 2000 model estimation and calibration year).
- The overall reduction in home size from this shift in housing supply may more than offset increases in life cycle GHG emissions due to greater economic production that may result from the plan.
- If the consumer preference for larger homes returns to levels observed prior to 2007, developers and jurisdictions may face significant economic incentives to increase the supply of luxury single-family homes over and above that recommended in the regional land use and transportation plan. If this is at the expense of multi-family housing units, then low-income households may face significant economic losses.
- If, however, the early evidence that consumer preferences are shifting in favor of smaller homes coupled with high quality local and regional accessibility, then the land use and transportation plans envisioned under SB 375 are more likely to match market demand and be implemented.
- More research is needed to understand the market preferences for housing in regional land use and transportation plans under SB 375 to realize their potential to improve the economy, equity, and GHG reductions.
- Implementation of SB 375, as well as the regional supply of multi-family housing, should be carefully monitored. Decision makers may find the results of monitoring very useful as they contemplate the need for future revisions to SB 375 over time.

I. INTRODUCTION

Travel and emissions models are commonly applied to evaluate the change in passenger and commercial travel and associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from land use and transportation plans. Analyses conducted by the Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG)⁷ predict a decline in such travel and emissions from their land use and transportation plan (the "Preferred Blueprint" or PRB scenario) relative to a "Business-as-Usual" scenario (BAU). However, the life cycle GHG effects due to changes in production and consumption associated with transportation and land use plans are rarely, if ever, conducted.

In an earlier study conducted by the authors,⁸ a spatial economic model (Sacramento PECAS) simulated the PRB plan and found that lower labor, transport, and rental costs increased producer and consumer surplus and production and consumption relative to the BAU. As a result, life cycle GHG emissions from these upstream economic activities may increase. At the same time, life cycle GHG emissions associated with the manufacture of construction materials for housing may decline due to a shift in the plan from larger, luxury single-family homes to smaller multi-family homes in the plan. The net impact of these opposing GHG impacts is not well understood.

To explore this issue, the current study uses the economic production and consumption data from the PRB and BAU scenarios, as simulated with the Sacramento PECAS model, as inputs to estimate the change in life cycle GHG emissions. The Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment model (EIOLCA), which is a publicly available model of upstream emissions impacts resulting from economic activity produced and maintained by Carnegie Mellon University's Green Design Institute, is applied to evaluate effects related to changes in economic production and consumption as well as housing construction.

This study also builds on the findings from two previous studies,⁹ which suggest potential economic incentives for jurisdictional non-compliance. In this study, the analysis is expanded by simulating a set of scenarios (using the Sacramento PECAS model) in which multiple jurisdictions partially pursue the BAU, instead of the PRB, at differing rates. Because SB 375 does not require local governments to adopt general plans that are consistent with the land use plans included in Sustainable Community Strategies (SCSs), such incentives could jeopardize implementation of SCSs and achievement of GHG goals. The scenarios are evaluated to understand how non-conformity may influence the supply of housing by type, and holding other factors constant, the geographic and income distribution of rents, wages, commute costs, and consumer surplus.

The study begins with background on the project, including relevant legislation, a description of the Sacramento region land use and transportation scenarios, and a review of the relevant literature. Next, the Sacramento PECAS model is described, as well as the simulation of the base BAU and PRB scenarios. This is followed by a discussion of the methods and results for both the life cycle and non-compliance analyses. The study ends with a discussion of the major conclusions of the study and key recommendations.

Introduction

II. BACKGROUND

LEGISLATIVE

In 2006, California Governor Arnold Schwarzenegger signed California Assembly Bill 32, also known as the Global Warming Solutions Act (AB 32), into law. As the first global warming legislation in the U.S., the law tasked the California Air Resources Board (ARB) to develop a plan for reducing California's GHG to 1990 levels by 2020. Executive Order S-3-05 signed by the governor specified additional GHG emissions reductions: 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. In its AB 32 Climate Change Scoping Plan, ARB recommended a three-pronged approach for reducing GHG emissions from personal vehicles, identifying vehicle technology, fuel GHG intensity, and travel behavior as key components contributing to overall passenger vehicle GHG emissions.

California's legislative answer to the necessity of changing travel behavior to meet AB 32 goals came in 2008 with the passage of California Senate Bill 375 (SB 375), or California's "anti-sprawl bill." The bill directs ARB to set regional targets to reduce GHG emissions, which are to be achieved through regional land use and transportation policies. According to ARB's AB 32 Scoping Plan, changes in land use and transportation planning should result in an annual reduction of five million metric tons in carbon dioxide equivalents by 2020 from reduced vehicle miles traveled (VMT).

SB 375 requires Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) to include a Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS) in their regional transportation plan that demonstrates how the region will meet the greenhouse gas emission targets. Although the bill requires such a strategy, it does not compel local governments to conform to this strategy. Because their general plans do not have to be consistent with the regional plan and they retain authority over development decisions in their jurisdiction, local governments have the final word over how the provisions of SB 375 are ultimately implemented.

SACRAMENTO REGION

In its 2004 Blueprint Project, SACOG established the basic participatory planning process that was later codified by SB 375. This public participation planning process resulted in the creation of a common land use and transportation vision for the Sacramento region. Over 5,000 residents contributed to the effort to develop a plan to cope with an estimated doubling of the regional population by 2050 and the increasing air pollution that would result from current land use patterns, transportation funding levels, and transportation investment priorities.

The outcome of this effort, the "Preferred Blueprint" (PRB), articulates levels and locations of redevelopment and new transit-oriented development linked to a list of preferred transportation projects. This was contrasted with the "Business-as-Usual" (BAU) plan that continues past land use and transportation trends, and leads to a larger area of urban coverage and lower densities of urban development relative to the PRB. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) permitted SACOG to use land use and

transportation components of the PRB plan in their official regional transportation plan as part of their air quality conformity process.

The location and intensity of household and employment is illustrated in Figure 1 for both the BAU and the PRB scenarios. In the BAU scenario, transportation investments continue to focus on highway expansion, and land development persists in low-density, auto-dependent patterns. In the PRB scenario, transportation investment emphasizes improvement in transit, sidewalks, and bicycle lanes over highway expansion. Significant housing development is located near existing employment centers near downtown Sacramento, Rancho Cordova (east of Sacramento on US Route 50), and Roseville (northeast of Sacramento on Interstate 80) to improve the overall jobs-to-housing balance and concentrate growth near high quality transit service. There is a relatively large increase in multi-family homes (10.9 percent) and decrease in luxury single-family homes (6.3 percent); however, total single-family homes decline by only 1.9 percent. The PRB scenario assumes that local jurisdictions honor their Blueprint Plan commitments through local land use controls.



Figure 1. Household and Employment Location in the 2035 BAU and the PRB Scenarios

LITERATURE REVIEW

Economic and Equity Effects

A number of studies in the U.S. use either aggregate travel demand models or, more recently, disaggregate activity-based travel models for regions and/or cities to examine the economic and equity effects of transportation and land use policies on the travel time and cost of travel for population segments by available modes, origin and destination locations, and trip purposes. Several studies use an aggregate travel demand model to measures total consumer welfare and consumer welfare by household income classes for transit, land use, and pricing scenarios in the Sacramento region¹⁰ and for gas tax policy scenarios in the Washington, DC area.¹¹ Activity-based models can calculate the distribution of travel time and cost effects across a broader range of household and individual socio-demographic characteristics. Deakin and Harvey¹² developed an early activity-based model that is used to evaluate the distributional effects of auto-pricing policies in the major regions of California. More recent versions of the STEP model were applied in equity studies in Baltimore, MD and Las Vegas, NV.¹³ Most recently, the San Francisco activity-based travel model¹⁴ was used to evaluate the distribution of travel time savings from a proposed transportation plan among specific communities of concern.

Other studies use aggregate land use and transportation models, which allow a partial representation of the spatial economy and an aggregate treatment of space use and development, to simulate the economic and equity effects of land use and transportation policies. Through linkages with a travel model, these models can represent the effect of changes in the transportation system on the allocation of activities and development in the built environment, which can then influence travel behavior. Economic and equity measures from these models typically include the travel time and cost effects of policies as do those from travel models. However, the travel time and cost effects are more inclusive in these studies because they include the trade-off between location decisions and travel time and cost. In the U.S., such studies use the MEPLAN framework in Sacramento¹⁵ and the LUSTRE model in Washington, DC.¹⁶ Internationally, such models are used for analyses in regions and cities in the UK¹⁷ and in Europe.¹⁸

Both activity-based models and aggregate land use models can be used to calculate the distributions of travel time and cost impacts. But calculating the distributions of wider impacts on the economy – including wages, rents, productivity and/or changes in consumer and producer surplus – require models that include explicit representation of the transportation system and the rest of the spatial economic system.¹⁹ The integration of activity-based models and recent generations of land use models, such as PECAS, allow analysts to answer a broader range of questions about the economic and equity effects of transportation and land use plans and policies. These include demand for goods, services, labor, and space; cost of producing and purchasing goods and services; industry and labor transportation costs; wages by employment type; rents and values for housing and employment space by type; and consumer (household by household income class) and producer surplus measures.

The current study is the last in a series of three studies for the Mineta Transportation Institute, in which the wider range of economic and equity measures available from such a spatial economic model is illustrated through the partial implementation of the Sacramento PECAS model. In the first study,²⁰ the 2035 land uses for the PRB and BAU scenarios generated from the Blueprint visioning process were input into the activity allocation module of the PECAS model along with network travel time and cost inputs generated from the Sacramento activity-based travel model (SACSIM) for each scenario. The results of this study indicate that both producers and consumers benefit from the changes in land use planning and transportation investment in the PRB scenario relative to the BAU. From an equity perspective, the PRB scenario shows the benefit to low-income residents due to decreased cost of living expenses. These results demonstrates that a more compact urban form designed around transit stations could reduce travel costs, wages, and housing costs by increasing accessibility. These decreased costs can benefit industry categories and lower income households while potentially reducing the welfare of higher income households.

The Sacramento PECAS model was largely developed with data collected before 2007 that indicate a general consumer preference for larger single-family homes. However, a number of recent studies²¹ report a possible shift in consumer preferences toward smaller homes in smart growth communities resulting from factors other than the 2008 economic downturn, for example, strong consumer interest in "green" homes with lower energy costs. The size of a home makes a significant contribution to the energy it consumes. A change in consumer preferences could mitigate losses to higher income groups that result from a reduced supply of larger luxury single-family homes.

Two studies were conducted that employed the UrbanSim model, which is an advanced micro-simulation land use model that captures the behavior of individual agents and at fine levels of geographic resolutions, to investigate localized employment decentralization in Amsterdam and Tel Aviv;²² however, the economic effects were largely confined to change in land values.

Incentives and Disincentives for Implementation

In the second study,²³ the application of the Sacramento PECAS model and the PRB and BAU scenarios was expanded to consider the possible economic and equity effects of non-conformity by an individual jurisdiction on the region as a whole and on other jurisdictions that do conform. The study developed "jurisdictional scenarios" in which all but one jurisdiction adhered to the PRB plan, while the one exception jurisdiction developed according to the BAU plan. These scenarios were grouped into four categories based on whether housing and/or employment is centralized or decentralized in the region (relative to the PRB) by the jurisdiction's behavior. The modeling results of these scenarios indicate that a jurisdiction's decision to develop according to the BAU scenario may increase regional and jurisdictional consumer surplus, only if this action further centralizes housing and employment in the region. The authors were unable to find other published literature or reports that included similar economic and equity measures related to localized decisions to violate a regional land us plan.

III. THE SACRAMENTO PECAS MODEL

In this study, the activity allocation module of the PECAS model for the Sacramento region is used to explore the distributions of impacts from the PRB scenario relative to the BAU scenario for the year 2035. PECAS is a generalized approach for simulating spatial economic systems. It is designed to provide a simulation of the land use component of land use transportation interactive modeling systems.

PECAS stands for Production, Exchange, and Consumption Allocation System. Overall, it uses an aggregate, equilibrium structure with separate flows of exchanges (including goods, services, labor, and space) going from production to consumption, based on variable technical coefficients and market clearing with exchange prices. It provides an integrated representation of spatially distinct markets for the full range of exchanges, with the transportation system and the development of space represented in more detail with specific treatments.

Flows of exchanges from production to exchange zones and from exchange zones to consumption are allocated using nested logit models according to exchange prices and transportation generalized costs (expressed as transportation utilities with negative signs). These flows are converted to transportation demands that are loaded on to transportation networks in order to determine congested travel utilities. Exchange prices determined for space types inform the calculation of changes in space attractiveness, thereby simulating developer actions. Developer actions are represented at the level of individual land parcels or grid cells using a microsimulation treatment. The system is run for each year being simulated, with the travel utilities and changes in space for one year influencing the flows of exchanges in the next year.

BASIC MODEL SYSTEM MODULES

PECAS includes two basic modules that are linked together with two other basic modules to provide a representation of the complete spatial economic system. The set of four basic modules are:

- **Space Development Module (SD module):** This is one of the two PECAS modules. It represents the actions of developers in the provision of different types of developed space where activities can locate, including the new development, demolition, and re-development that occurs from one point in time to the next. This developed space is typically floor space of various types and is called "space" in the PECAS framework.
- Activity Allocation Module (AA module): This is the other of the two PECAS modules. It represents how activities locate within the space provided by developers and how these activities interact with each other at a given point in time.
- **Transport Model (TR module):** This is one of the "non-PECAS" modules. It represents the transportation system connecting locations, including at a minimum a transportation network, the transportation demands that load onto this network

(as a result of the economic interactions represented in the AA module), and the congested times and costs for interactions between locations arising from the loading of these demands.

• Economic Demographic Aggregate Forecasting Model (ED module): This is the other of the "non-PECAS" modules. This is the method used to develop aggregate economic forecasts for the study area being modeled.

The four basic modules listed above are linked together with information flows as shown in Figure 2. This linked system works through time in a series of discrete, fixed steps from one point in time to the next, with the AA module running at each point in time and the SD module considering the period from each point in time to the next. In general, the fixed steps can be of any duration, but one-year time steps are recommended since they allow an appropriately quick response of land developers in the SD module to the space prices established in the AA module.



Figure 2. Modules and Information Flows Simulating Temporal Dynamics

Ideally, the transportation model (TR module), used to calculate the congested travel times and associated transportation utilities, is run for each year, after the AA module has been run for that year. If the overall model run-time is too long and travel conditions are relatively stable, the TR module can be run less often to save computation time.

The study area is organized into a set of land use zones (LUZs). In the AA module, activities locate in these zones and commodities flow between them. Ideally, these zones match the transportation zones (TAZs) used in the TR module or are aggregations of whole numbers of adjacent TAZs. The connectivity among the LUZs is based on the representation provided by the TR module, where the TR module establishes congested network times and costs, and associated transportation utilities that the AA module uses in its consideration of the interactions between the LUZs in the next time period.

The land in each LUZ is further partitioned into smaller cells or parcels. The parcels can correspond to actual legal parcels or portions of legal parcels. The cells can be formed by superimposing a grid pattern over the land. The term "parcel" is used to refer to both cells and parcels in the descriptions below. In the microsimulation version of the SD module, developed space (called "space") is located on these parcels, with only one type of space on a given parcel, and the total quantity of each type of space in the LUZs is the sum of the quantities on the parcels in that LUZs.

When an activity in the AA module is located in a LUZ, it consumes space in the LUZ at rates consistent with the production technology or technologies used in the LUZ. Land is used in the provision of the space in the zone as an input to the development process, as represented in the SD module.

Activity Allocation Module

The AA module is an aggregate representation. It concerns quantities of activities, flows of commodities and markets with aggregate demands and supplies and exchange prices. Activities are located in LUZs. Activities produce commodities, and then transport and sell these commodities; they also consume commodities after buying them and transporting them. There are different types of activities, including industrial sectors, government, and households. Activity quantities can be measured in values (e.g., dollars of business repair or industrial activity) or numbers (e.g., number of households with high income and two or less persons). The AA module allocates the study-area-wide quantity of each activity among the LUZs as part of its allocation process.

Commodities flow, at specific rates, from where they are produced to where they are exchanged (from seller to buyer), and then flow from where they are exchanged to where they are consumed. Commodities are grouped into categories, including different types of goods and services, labor, and space. Commodities other than space in general flow across zone boundaries. Space is restricted in that it is "non-transportable" and must be exchanged and consumed in the LUZ where it is produced – which means that the space commodity categories receive some special additional treatments in PECAS as described further below.

Commodity flows are measured in values per unit time (e.g., dollars of management services per year) or numbers per unit time (e.g., tons of coal per month). The movement of these flows of commodities from where they are produced to where they are consumed is the economic basis for travel and transportation in the modeling system. It is the travel conditions – the distances, costs, times, and associated (dis)utilities by mode – for the movement of these commodities that results in the influence of the transportation system on the interactions among activities and the attractiveness of locations for activities. As part of its allocation process, the AA module allocates the flows of commodities from production location LUZ to exchange location LUZ, and then from exchange location LUZ to consumption location LUZ, and finds the corresponding set of prices at the exchange location LUZ that clears all markets.

Activities produce commodities and consume commodities in the production process according to the technology they use. More specifically, an activity quantity in a given LUZ produces commodities at specific rates per unit of activity and consumes commodities at specific rates per unit of activity according to the technology being used by the activity. One or more "technology option" alternatives are defined for a given activity. Each of these technology options is a specific vector of production and consumption rates for different commodities per unit of the activity, representing a particular technology option for the production process available to the activity. The AA module allocates the quantity of the activity in each LUZ among these technology options as part of its allocation process.

The allocation process in the AA module uses a three-level nested logit model with a nesting structure as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Three-Level Nesting Structure Used in Activity Allocation Module

At the highest level of the nesting structure, the study-area total quantity of each activity is allocated among the LUZs. At the middle level, the quantity of each activity in each LUZ is allocated among the available technology options. At the lowest level, there are two logit allocations for each commodity in each LUZ. The first is an allocation of the produced quantities among the various exchange locations where they are sold to other activities. The second is an allocation of the consumed quantities among the various exchange locations where they are sold to other activities.

At the lowest level, the utility of each exchange location alternative is influenced by the price at that exchange location and the characteristics for transporting the commodity to or from that exchange location. The composite utility values from these two lowest-level logit models are called the "buying utility" and the "selling utility" for the commodity in the LUZs. They are used as the transport-related inputs in the middle level for allocating the activities in the LUZs among the relevant technology options. The composite utility value for the range of technology options considered at the middle level for an activity in a LUZ is part of the location utilities used at the highest level.

The spatial aspects of the AA module allocation process are illustrated in Figure 4. Buying and selling allocations link through the exchange locations to establish commodity flows from production to consumption locations in the LUZs.



Figure 4. Buying and Selling Allocations Resulting in Commodity Flows from Production Zone to Consumption Zone via Exchange Location

The exchange locations are location-specific markets for commodities, where sellers sell commodities to buyers. Prices are established at exchange locations so that the quantity bought equals the quantity sold – thus, the spatial allocation procedure in the AA module assumes short-run market equilibrium in commodities.

Activity Allocation Utility Equation

Since AA is based on random utility theory, it is based on a "utility function" describing the attractiveness of each option implied in Figure 4. For one unit of activity type $a \in A$, where A consists of the full set of types of activity under consideration (including households, business establishments, and other institutions), consider the joint choice of:

- Location: *I*∈L , that is, the home location for the unit; being a residential location for households, or establishment location for business establishments and other institutions (the top level of Figure 4);
- **Technology Option:** $p \in P^a$, described by a set of technical coefficients $\alpha_{p} = \{\alpha_{pl}, \alpha_{p2}, ..., \alpha_{pn}, ..., \alpha_{pN_p}\}$ and a corresponding list of commodities $c_{p} = \{c_{pl}, c_{p2}, ..., c_{pn}, ..., c_{pN_p}\}$, each $c_{pn} \in C$. Each α_{pn} describes how much of commodity c_{pn} is produced (or consumed, if α_{pn} is negative) per unit of activity *a*, with indices *n* from 1 through N_p . P^a is the set of allowed Technology Option alternatives for activity *a* (the middle level of Figure 4); and
- Exchange Location: e_n ∈ E_c, for each commodity c_{pn} produced or consumed, being the choice of where to purchase, sell (or otherwise exchange, as is the case for unpriced commodities) the quantity |α_{pn}| (the bottom level of Figure 4).

The utility of this joint choice is given by:

$$U_{\frac{1}{2}}^{\bullet} = V_{t}^{\bullet} + \varepsilon_{t}^{\bullet} + V_{p} + \varepsilon_{p} + \sum_{m=1-N} \left| \alpha_{m} \right|_{sm} \left(V_{n,t} + \varepsilon_{n,p} \right)$$
(1)

where:

- V_{I}^{a} = the measurable component of utility associated with location I and activity a;
- \mathcal{E}_{l}^{a} = a random component of utility associated with location *l* and activity *a*;
- V'_{p} = the measurable component of utility associated with technology option *p*;
- \mathcal{E}_{l_p} = a random component of utility associated with technology option p and location l;

 a_{pn} = the technical coefficients associated with technology option *p* as described above; s_{pn} = scaling adjusting associated with technical coefficient a_{pn} (non-negative and usually 1.0);

the measurable component of utility associated with exchanging the commodity $V_{e_n l} = c_{pn}$ associated with α_{pn} in exchange location e_n given location *I* and technology option *p*;

 $\varepsilon_{e_n lp} = a$ random component of utility associated with exchanging commodity c_{pn} at exchange location e_n given activity location *I* and technology option *p*.

The terms V_p and V_l^a are normally established in calibration and do not change between years or between scenarios. Thus core policy-sensitivity of the model is in the V_{e_nl} terms. Each of the V_{e_nl} terms contains three subterms:

- the cost of transporting commodities to or from the exchange zone,
- the prices of commodities in the exchange zone, and
- the relative size of the exchange zone.

Since prices are determined endogenously to clear the spatial markets, the dominant policy-related inputs to AA involve transportation costs and measures of zone size (normally quantities of space from SD), and the total quantity of each activity specified as a policy control total, to be allocated according to equation (1) and Figure 4.

See Hunt and Abraham²⁴ and Abraham and Hunt²⁵ for complete documentation of the theoretical formation and calibration methods of the PECAS model.

IMPLICATIONS

The intention of this study was not to forecast built form and land use patterns, but rather to use the AA module of PECAS to evaluate patterns of built form. Since the AA module is based on rigorous application of nested and additive logit theory, the top level expected maximum utility measure (the "logsum") at the top of Figure 4 is a representation of the full composite utility (the consumer surplus in the case of household activities) of all the choices of where to locate; the quantity of interactions to undertake; and the transportation costs, prices, and opportunities for each of these interactions. Equation (1) is the utility of one particular option in the model regarding the choice of location, technology, and exchange locations. The expected maximum utility of choosing from amongst all the options of location, technology, and exchange location options provided by the built form and transportation system is calculated by the activity allocation module and is available as an output benefit measure for each activity in the model.

In particular, for households in the Sacramento model, the top level expected maximum utility takes into account the transportation costs for all of the households' interactions; the relative prices for every category of good, service, labor, and housing; as well as the willingness and ability of households to shift their location, their housing type, their occupation, and the destination of all of their trips. Benefits of increased opportunities are considered and compared against transportation costs and other costs in this output measure from PECAS; if a policy or scenario reduces opportunities at any level of Figure 4, costs may be reduced (because opportunities to spend money or travel time have been reduced) but benefits will also be reduced. Benefit calculation with transportation models alone, or with transportation models with land use models which are less rigorously consistent, can fail in this aspect; for instance, closing down congested roads. The PECAS model allows this type of consistent rigorous analysis using random utility theory applied consistently to spatial choices for both supply and demand of goods, services, labor, and space in a complex economy.

This study uses the PECAS AA module to evaluate built form scenarios and transportation scenarios. A transportation demand model was used to forecast transportation level of service. The SD module was not used in this study – as a result, the input to the scenario is not a set of policies designed to shape future built form and land use, but rather a specific future configuration of built form. AA was used to allocate quantities of industry and households into the assumed space, with AA generating prices for space in each LUZ along with prices for every other commodity in each LUZ.

CALIBRATION OF THE PECAS ACTIVITY ALLOCATION MODULE

Calibration of the PECAS model has been ongoing as part of SACOG's model improvement program.²⁶ However, further calibration is always possible given additional data and additional resources, especially in the case of PECAS, because its scope is very deep, covering the whole of the spatial economy.

For this study, additional calibration efforts were performed that were specific to the benefit analysis. Transportation cost functions, which translate travel model zone-pair travel attributes into disutility measures for each commodity in PECAS, were refined using improved data from the travel models, wage data by occupation, and from goods movement studies. The commodity flow distances were calibrated to trip length information, to establish the logit dispersion parameter in the models of buying or selling for each commodity. These dispersion parameters control the random term in the flow allocation (they are inversely related to the standard deviations of the $\varepsilon_{e_n lp}$ terms in equation (1)). It is important to establish these parameters before undertaking benefit analysis, because they establish the value associated with variety in each commodity (recall that the other terms at this level of the model reflect price, transportation cost/disutility, and zone size). In the case of commodities with low dispersion parameters, additional opportunities for interaction are very valuable, even if they are poorly priced or a long distance away.

The choice model of household lifestyle (the middle level of Figure 4, for household activities) was calibrated based on observed patterns of behavior from the U.S. Census Public Use Microsample (PUMS). This established the tendency of certain types of household to use certain types of housing and make certain types of labor, and the willingness (and/or the ability) to shift occupation and housing depending on conditions. Dispersion parameters for the higher level choices in Figure 4 were refined with the help of the additive logit theory in Abraham and Hunt,²⁷ which was not available when the Sacramento PECAS model was first developed.

Other elements of the model that were further calibrated include the treatment of imports and exports (more explicit in quantity and direction than in Abraham et al.²⁸), and the floorspace short-term supply function (which allows large vacancy rates if space demand in any zone is uncharacteristically low).

See Abraham et al.²⁹ for a description of the Sacramento PECAS model, its initial calibration, and its planned ongoing calibration. It describes how the make and use coefficients (the αpn in equation (1)) were established for the various activity-commodity combinations from economic "input-output" relationships and Census data, the classification systems

applied to determine the categories of activities, commodities, and LUZs; the strategies for establishing both alternative specific constants for particular production options (p in equation (1)) and location options (I in equation (1)); and strategies for calibrating the parameters controlling the size of the random components in equation (1).

Abraham et al.³⁰ also describes the development and calibration of the SD module, which would be used if land use policy over time were being used as an input to the model. (In this study land use patterns were being evaluated, not land use policy.)
IV. LAND USE AND TRANSPORTATION SCENARIOS

SACOG provided employment, household, and land inputs for the BAU and PRB scenarios in the year 2035 that were used in their SACSIM simulations. Employment and household locations were not used directly by PECAS – since one of PECAS's functions is to allocate employment and households. Rather, the expectations regarding employment and household locations from the two scenarios were used to develop the inputs on built form (or floorspace) that would normally be provided by PECAS's space development module. A full version of PECAS, with both the space development and activity allocation models, would predict both the location of employment and households, and the location of built form, with policy variables (such as zoning regulations) as inputs. A travel model, on the other hand, requires employment locations, household locations, and built form as inputs. In this work, a middle road was taken, with built form as an input, while employment and household locations are determined by the activity allocation model and thus output floor space varied from input floor space.

Zone-to-zone travel times and costs (generalized transportation costs or logsums) for all modes by trip purpose were obtained from SACSIM and were consistent with input floorspace for each scenario. Zone-to-zone travel times and costs were aggregated to PECAS zones using an approach that weighted values by trip frequency. Total economic growth by activity category was assumed to remain constant for both scenarios simulated with the PECAS AA module. Zone-to-zone travel times, but not distance traveled, were held constant in the transportation costs. As a result, travel costs may be underestimated somewhat if the land use changes in the scenarios increased congestion, or overestimated if the land use changes reduced congestion. However, given the relatively small changes simulated in the scenarios, the magnitude of this possible error is likely very small and not likely to change the order of magnitude and direction of change in the simulated results.

V. LIFE CYCLE ANALYSIS

The GHG emissions from personal and commercial vehicle travel were evaluated for both the PRB and the BAU scenario as part of the Sacramento Region's Metropolitan Transportation Plan.³¹ The results indicate that GHGs from vehicle travel could be reduced by implementing the PRB scenario. In this section, we expand the evaluation of GHG emission from these land use and transportation scenarios by applying a life cycle-analysis (LCA) model to evaluate GHGs from changes in economic consumption and housing construction in each scenario as available from the Sacramento PECAS simulations of the year 2035 BAU and PRB.

METHODS

Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment Model

The Sacramento PECAS outputs include forecasts of consumption and production activity within a comprehensive set of economic sectors. These outputs are in units of production and consumption dollars, employees, floorspace, and housing units. The outputs of the Sacramento PECAS model can serve as inputs to a LCA model to evaluate the change in emissions that result from different planning scenarios evaluated by the PECAS model.

In this section, the integration of the Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment Model (EIOLCA) with the outputs from the Sacramento PECAS model land use and transportation simulations, both separate and independent models, are described. The EIOLCA model was developed and made publicly available by the Green Design Institute of Carnegie Mellon University.³²

Currently, there are generally three types of LCA practiced in industry and research. The first is a process-based LCA, which involves the modeling of a process or system from start to finish. The second is an economic input-output life cycle assessment (EIOLCA is an implementation of this), which uses information on economic relationships in the economy to estimate the energy and emissions associated with a dollar spent in the economy within a specific sector. A third form of LCA is a hybrid LCA, which begins with a process-based LCA, but models upstream elements of the supply chain using EIOLCA. The EIOLCA model is based on input-output tables that are published by the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) within the Department of Commerce (DOC) on a semi-decadal basis (1997, 2002, and so on).³³ The release of input-output table data is currently subject to a considerable lag, in that input-output tables for 1997 were released in 2002 and input-output tables for 2002 were released in 2007. Currently, 2002 tables are the latest available. Hence, results from this analysis reflect the interrelationships of the 2002 economy. The EIOLCA model is also available in several forms and geographic regions. As of May 2012, there exist models for the United States, Canada, Germany and Spain. Within the U.S., there are a number of sub-models that apply to specific states, namely Pennsylvania and West Virginia. The nationwide model is available in two forms, the Producer Price model and the Purchaser Price model. The Producer Price model includes all processes up to and including the assembly of the product, while the Purchaser Price model consists of the impacts included in the Producer Price model as well as the distribution of products to the

consumer. For this analysis, we apply the Purchaser Price model, because it includes the more comprehensive set of supply-chain impacts up to the consumer. The EIOLCA model takes U.S. dollars spent in a specific economic sector as the sole input.

Fundamentally, dollars spent within a specific economic sector (such as home construction) results in the producers of that sector spending a portion of their earned income to obtain critical inputs from other sectors (e.g., lumber, cement manufacturing, and pipe manufacturing) that supply its core value-added activity. These sectors in turn must spend on their inputs (e.g., oil, energy, and land) to produce inputs to the sector that they are supplying. The BEA input-output tables effectively map out this chain of activity to fully articulate how dollars spent within any given sector of the economy propagate through the rest of the economy. The resulting economic activity within each sector results in some quantity of energy expended, and hence emissions.

The EIOLCA ties the flow of dollars as defined from the BEA input-output tables to sector-specific emission factors. The ingenuity of the EIOLCA model is that it provides a mechanism to estimate the high-level emissions changes that result from changes in economic activity. As a result, as the Sacramento PECAS model estimates changes in the flow of dollars that result from different planning scenarios (i.e., BAU and PRB), it can be augmented with life cycle emissions as derived from EIOLCA. As the current EIOLCA model is derived from the BEA tables describing the entire U.S. economy, the emissions factors are based on national industry averages. Future analyses may be able to apply California or other state-specific factors.

Mapping PECAS Output and EIOLCA Inputs

The Sacramento PECAS model produces output by 22 economic activity sectors. These sectors are listed in Table 1.

 Agriculture (plus Mining) 	 Finance Insurance Legal 	 Other Education
 Construction 	 Real Estate 	 Personal Services
 Manufacturing 	Hotels	 Membership & Non-Profit Orgs.
 Transportation Services 	 Business Services 	 Professional Services
 Communications and Utilities 	 Automotive Services 	 Government Nonutility
 Wholesale Trade 	 Amusement Services 	Enterprises
Retail Trade	 Health Services 	 Military
 Restaurants 	 Primary Education 	

Table 1. PECAS Economic Activity Sectors

Source: PECAS Model.

Notes: These are the economic sectors into which consumption and production activity is categorized in PECAS.

The alignment of the Sacramento PECAS model output sectors is not entirely congruent with EIOLCA. Some sectors align precisely, while others align quite poorly. For example, Wholesale Trade is a unique category within both the Sacramento PECAS model and EIOLCA. Hence, the change in dollars spent in Wholesale Trade, as simulated and output by the Sacramento PECAS model, can be used directly as an input to the EIOLCA model

within the economic sector of the same name. However, the Sacramento PECAS model also has an Automotive Services sector. This sector is covered by two EIOLCA sectors, the Automotive Repair and Maintenance, Except Car Washes sector and the Car Washes sector. The coverage of one PECAS sector by two sectors in EIOLCA introduces the problem of EIOLCA input dollar division. For example, if the PECAS output suggests in the modeled scenario that \$1 million would be spent the Automotive Services sector, then how should that be allocated within EIOLCA? The two corresponding EIOCLA categories will have different emissions factors, and so assumptions regarding the division of the PECAS \$1 million into the two automotive services-related EIOLCA categories will impact the results. By assumption, or by fact, some division of this output into EIOLCA is necessary to run the EIOLCA model. The analyst might assume that 100 percent of the \$1 million is applied to the Automotive Repair and Maintenance, Except Car Washes economic sector, thus ignoring the emissions factors from car washes. Alternatively, some broad assumption (80 percent/20 percent) could be made dividing the PECAS output Automotive Services into the two EIOLCA sectors. Fortunately, there is an alternative approach that is grounded in data describing the relative share of economic activity that each EIOLCA sector has within a metropolitan region such as Sacramento. This data provides an empirically grounded breakdown to a relatively high level of detail.

The County Business Patterns (CBP), published by the Census Bureau, reports the annual payroll (in thousands of dollars) of businesses by industry, as classified by the North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) code (see Appendix A for tables detailing the CBP classifications).³⁴ This distribution of annual payroll is used as a proxy to determine the relative share of economic activity of any specific sector within the region of interest. The CBP is published for a number of different geographic resolutions, including the nation, state, county, metropolitan region, and zip code.³⁵ However, the more refined the geographic resolution, the more incomplete the information presented in the CBP. At more specific economic sectors, the Census Bureau suppresses information if the level of aggregation is not sufficient to reasonably occlude the business reporting the data. Hence, the more refined the regional resolution, the more likely the data are contributed by a single business and thus removed from subtotals. At the metropolitan level, for a region the size of Sacramento (the Sacramento--Arden-Arcade--Roseville, CA Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA)), this problem is not too pervasive across sectors and can otherwise be overcome with simple assumptions.

The connection of the Sacramento PECAS output to EIOLCA data for any region thus requires the spanning of three data classifications. The output to any PECAS economic sector must be divided into subcategories of NAICS industry classifications that comprise the PECAS economic sector. The NAICS industry classifications can then be mapped to appropriate EIOLCA economic sectors. The shares of economic activity, as identified by the NAICS, inform how activity within the Sacramento PECAS model should be split within EIOLCA. The BEA publishes a mapping of the input-output (EIOLCA) sectors to NAICS industry codes.³⁶ This mapping is necessary to complete the linkage between EIOLCA and PECAS if local economic sectors are to be proportionally represented in accordance with the local economy.

Table 2 illustrates, conceptually, the linkage across each data set for the example sector Communications and Utilities. It shows how NAICS codes (managed by the U.S. Census Bureau) align rather well with Input-Output (IO) categories (managed by the BEA), and that many, but not all, NAICS codes map directly to unique IO codes. There are many more NAICS codes than IO codes (of which there are 491), and different levels of the NAICS hierarchy (represented by the number of digits in the NAICS code) are represented within the IO structure. Because of this, it is the IO structure that defines the baseline NAICS codes that are referenced as part of the mapping. Most of the IO codes map to 3- or 4-digit NAICS codes. But, as is evident in Table 2, a number of IO codes align with NAICS sectors at the 5-digit level.

Generally, there is a precise NAICS code for every IO code, and the digits of the IO code align with the corresponding NAICS code. There are cases in which more than one NAICS code maps to an IO code, as indicated by 5111A0 in Table 2. In these cases, the activity with the shared NAICS codes are simply distributed proportionally (or equally into halves, thirds, etc.) to represent the IO code.

		U.S. Census Bureau		Bureau of Economic Analysis
	NAICS Code	Description	IO Code	Description
	51111	Newspaper Publishers	511110	Newspaper Publishers
	51112	Periodical Publishers	511120	Periodical Publishers
S	51113	Book Publishers	511130	Book Publishers
tilitie	51114 51119	Directory and Mailing List Publishers Other Publishers	-5111A0	Directory, Mailing List, and Other Publishers
	51121	Software Publishers	511200	Software Publishers
anc	5121	Motion Picture and Video Industries	512100	Motion Picture and Video Industries
ns	5122	Sound Recording Industries	512200	Sound Recording Industries
atio	5151	Radio and Television Broadcasting	515100	Radio and Television Broadcasting
jč	5152	Cable and Other Subscription Programming	515200	Cable and Other Subscription Programming
nur	516	Internet Publishing and Broadcasting	516110	Internet Publishing and Broadcasting
Ē	517	Telecommunications	517000	Telecommunications
r: Co	5181	Internet Service Providers and Web Search Portals	518100	Internet Service Providers and Web Search Portals
Secto	5182	Data Processing, Hosting, and Related Services	518200	Data Processing, Hosting, and Related Services
ŝ	519	Other Information Services	519100	Other Information Services
PECA	2211	Electric Power Generation, Transmission, and Distribution	221100	Electric Power Generation, Transmission, and Distribution
	2212	Natural Gas Distribution	221200	Natural Gas Distribution
	2213	Water, Sewage, and Other Systems	221300	Water, Sewage, and Other Systems

Table 2. Example of PECAS to NAICS to IO Category Mapping

Source: North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Codes, http://www.census.gov/eos/www/naics/; Bureau of Economic Analysis Benchmark Input-Output Data, http://www.bea.gov/industry/io_benchmark.htm.

To map the CBP data, the annual payroll of each NAICS sector is identified with the CBP for the Sacramento region. The share of this payroll among the total payroll of the NAICS sectors within a PECAS classification defines the share of input that the IO sector receives as an input to the EIOLCA model. The mapping is verified to be complete and comprehensive when the sum of payroll expenses of all mapped NAICS sectors is equal to the high-level (2-digit) NAICS sector. Broadly, this methodology allows for the EIOLCA

model to better reflect the true mix of economic activity for the region in which the PECAS (or other land use model) was developed and deployed. It allows the appropriate mix of EIOLCA categories to more representatively reflect the change that would occur within the PECAS sector. For this project, a Visual Basic (VBA) program was written to convert the BEA-IO-to-NAICS mapping into a database format useable for future research efforts.

The annual payroll of each NAICS sector that is aligned with an EIOLCA category is then used to construct a "custom product" within the EIOLCA model. The custom product permits the addition of specific sectors to an EIOLCA model run. Each EIOLCA sector is assigned a dollar amount representing the sector's share in the custom product. In this case, the dollar amount is the payroll for the NAICS-EIOLCA sectors within the corresponding PECAS sector are added to include their payrolls. A new custom product is created for each PECAS model sector. Table 3 shows how the NAICS-EIOLCA sectors are assigned payroll values as derived from the 2009 CBP for the PECAS Communications and Utilities sector. The list of sectors in Table 3 is shorter than Table 2 because not all sectors are active in the Sacramento MSA.

NAICS Code	IO Code	Description as Defined in EIOLCA	Annual Payroll (\$ millions)	Proportion of Comm. & Util. Local Economy (%)
51111	511110	Newspaper Publishers	80.783	5
51112	511120	Periodical Publishers	29.449	2
51113	511130	Book Publishers	0.773	0
51114, 51119	5111A0	Directory, Mailing List, and Other Publishers	20.366	1
51121	511200	Software Publishers	170.164	11
5121	512100	Motion Picture and Video Industries	17.608	1
5122	512200	Sound Recording Industries	1.946	0
5151	515100	Radio and Television Broadcasting	107.779	7
5152	515200	Cable and Other Subscription Programming	1.536	0
517	517000	Telecommunications	718.253	45
5182	518200	Data Processing, Hosting, and Related Services	181.340	11
519	519100	Other Information Services	40.829	3
2211	221100	Electric Power Generation, Transmission, and Distribution	139.090	9
2212	221200	Natural Gas Distribution	85.033	5
2213	221300	Water, Sewage and Other Systems	10.256	1
		TOTAL	1,605.205	100

Table 3. Payroll for Communications and Utilities within Sacramento MSA for NAICS-EIOLCA Sectors

Source: North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Codes, http://www.census.gov/eos/www/naics/; Bureau of Economic Analysis Benchmark Input-Output Data, http://www.bea.gov/industry/io_benchmark.htm.; US Census, County Business Patterns, 2009. Sacramento--Arden-Arcade--Roseville, CA Metropolitan Statistical Area. http://www.census.gov/econ/cbp/.

The EIOLCA output provides estimates for a number of metrics. In using the 2002 EIOLCA Purchaser model with the Custom Product interface, we report the change in total economic activity, total GHG emissions (in metric tons [t] CO_2e), total energy, toxic releases, and water withdrawals. The output of each metric is then scaled by the ratio of the change in "consumption of goods and services," forecasted by the Sacramento PECAS model, to the total payroll in the corresponding sector. For example, Table 3 shows that the total payroll for the custom product defining the Communications and Utilities sector is \$1,605.205

million.³⁷ The Sacramento PECAS model in this study estimates that the consumption of goods and services in this sector falls by \$2 million under the PRB. The EIOLCA outputs generally scale linearly (e.g., \$5 million in activity generates five times the emissions as \$1 million). The scaling factor of (2/1,605.205) is multiplied by the environmental outputs produced at \$1,605.205 million of custom product output. This adjusted output is the estimated LCA impact metric of interest for the Sacramento PECAS model for a single year. There is one detail about the PECAS output that is relevant for calculating the total impact of economic shifts. The PECAS output from which differences in consumption are calculated comprise annual consumption values of the final forecasted year of the model (year 2035, in this case). But the economic impact occurs every year for the duration of the forecast period. Hence, the emissions calculated from the shifts in economic activity must be scaled to match the entire forecasted period. In this case, the period is from 2010 to 2035, or 25 years. It is, of course, likely that the differences in consumption observed at the end of the forecast period are not reflective of the interim year differences. Rather, this assumption applies an upper bound on the impact of changes in consumption on resulting emissions. Other assumptions defining the evolution of the difference, such as linear growth to the values observed in the final forecast year, could be applied, as shifts in the economy are generally gradual. For simplicity, we assume that the values observed in the final year are representative of interim year differences.

Estimating Residential Housing LCA Impacts

The Sacramento PECAS model also provides an estimate of the change in distribution of households as a result of different land use policies. As discussed above, four categories of household types are represented in the Sacramento PECAS model: 1) luxury single-family (SF) homes, 2) standard SF homes, 3) owned multi-family (MF) homes, and 4) rented MF homes. The total number of homes built in the BAU and PRB is held constant; however, as described above, in the PRB scenario there is shift from luxury SF to MF and standard SFs relative to the BAU.

To estimate the change that results from the shift in the distribution of housing between the BAU and the PRB scenarios in EIOLCA, it is necessary to make an assumption regarding construction costs. Current estimates of construction costs in California suggest that home construction costs are about \$100 per square foot (sq. ft.) (not including the cost of land, which is not needed for this estimation).³⁸ In addition, to compute the cost of a single home construction, a second assumption is required on the size of the home. These assumptions are quantified in the results. The dollars spent on construction, as defined by these assumptions, are passed into the EIOLCA Purchaser model for the IO sector entitled Residential Permanent Site Single- and Multi-Family Structures (IO Code: 230201). The output of the housing metrics, defined above, is combined with the estimated changes to determine the total net change for all metrics of measurement. The PECAS model does produce other outputs, but if these outputs do not change from BAU to PRB, then there is no change to measure with EIOLCA.

Limitations and Considerations

The methodology developed here is designed to link two models that have not been linked in previous research. There are a number of limitations and considerations that should be understood in interpreting the results. One important assumption made with this methodology is that the structure of the economy over the course of the forecasted landuse change is relatively constant. Inevitably, the economy will change in structure and size. The degree of change will certainly impact the degree to which a structure defined in the year of analysis is reflective of the economy in the future. Naturally, the economic structure established during the year of analysis is the best guess available. Given this information, analysts are certainly free to make their own estimations on how the economic structure might be different in the future and adjust values with justification.

For many Sacramento PECAS sectors, there are a fair number of EIOLCA sectors represented. For example, manufacturing has the most, with 74 separate EIOLCA sectors. Changes or even eliminations of specific sectors within the Sacramento PECAS sector model will have a relatively small impact on the aggregate results in isolation. Many changes would be required to significantly alter a sector, and these changes may correspond to a change in PECAS sector consumption, which the model itself estimates to be small. This would further dampen impacts of structural economic changes to the results.

The same problem of permanence exists for EIOLCA. The model used here is derived from the 2002 economy, which is already 10 years removed from the current year. Based on the existing BEA pace of IO sector release, any such analysis would be at best, five years removed. Even if EIOLCA factors represented the current year, the assumption remains that those environmental factors are constant over the course the period forecasted by PECAS. Naturally, this assumption is not likely to hold, but the degree to which it impacts the results is sector dependent. Some sectors change considerably over time, while others practice processes and efficiencies that have evolved little over time. Hence, the current assumption of constancy in the EIOLCA factors over a long time period is not ideal for reflecting the likely changes to occur within the economy. It is, however, the best available information on the complex interrelationships between economic sectors available to the public.

An additional consideration is that the linkage between the EIOLCA and PECAS is effectively one estimate mapped to another estimate. Both estimates are subject to uncertainty. They serve as a best estimate of the order of magnitude of impacts given the modeling capabilities and information available for analysis at this time. The utilization of the CBP to better represent a PECAS sector in EIOCLA for any given region provides a way for the local economic structure to be incorporated as weights on the factors applied by EIOLCA. The CBP information is the most precise of all the applied inputs. But overall, the output of the LCA analysis are still best estimates, given prevailing knowledge, and should be considered for their ability to approximate relative magnitudes of different types of impacts, given the forecasted changes of Sacramento PECAS and how EIOLCA would consider those changes as influencing energy and emissions using information currently available.

Finally, the scope of the LCA analysis is defined by that of EIOLCA. EIOLCA is very useful for understanding the implications of changes in spending, as defined by any model influencing environmental factors, for the economy upstream in the production cycle of the items consumed. The EIOLCA model does not include use of the product itself. For many items, this consideration is not significant. For example, the use (or consumption) of items, such as food or paper, do not result much in the way of additional emissions. For these common items, most of the impact is derived from upstream production and delivery processes, which are within the scope of EIOLCA. There are also downstream disposal impacts that are not captured. Other goods, specifically those that consume power (e.g., automobiles, electronics, etc.), exhibit an additional impact also not captured within the scope of this LCA. These considerations should be understood when interpreting the results, but also should be viewed as opportunities for future research to improve the factors, resolution of assumptions, and data informing both models and their linkages.

RESULTS

The study uses the AA module of PECAS to allocate employment and housing locations using built form from the PRB and the BAU plans and scenario specific transport costs from the region's activity-based travel model. The results indicate that a more compact urban form, including a greater number of smaller housing units and fewer large, luxury housing units, designed around transit stations tend to reduce the cost of living and increase economic consumption in the region. The key sector changes for the EIOLCA analysis are the size of housing floorspace construction and economic consumption from each scenario as produced by the Sacramento PECAS model.

In general, the results indicate that that the upstream increases in GHGs from increased economic consumption in the PRB scenario are outweighed by reductions in upstream GHG emissions that result from the shift in construction from luxury to smaller single and multi-family homes. That is, the strongest impact on the aggregate results is not the change in economic activity, but the change in housing type distribution. This result pertains only to the upstream economic activity that is induced by the construction of new homes. It does not include the maintenance and operation of these homes. Similarly, the GHG impacts resulting from shifts in economic consumption are the resulting differences in upstream activity as defined by the two scenarios. The detailed analysis is described below.

The GHG effects of the housing size distribution are highly sensitive to assumptions about household size. As a lower bound, luxury SFs were considered to be 1,500 sq. ft., with a construction cost of \$100 per sq. ft. As a baseline assumption, all homes were considered to have the same dollar per sq. ft. construction costs. In reality, the cost for producing standard SFs and MFs would be less than that of luxury SFs. Hence, keeping these production costs equal favors an increase in emissions because lower production costs of these smaller homes would result in lower emissions that result from their increased production. Table 4 shows the change in homes forecasted by PECAS, alongside the factors applied to those changes.

Housing Type	Area (are 61)	Construction	Difference in Scenarios Forecasted by PECAS [PRB – BAU]			
Housing Type	Area (sq. ft.)	Cost (\$/sq. ft.)	Number of Housing Units	Total Construction Cost (\$ millions)		
Luxury Single-Family	1,500	\$100	-25,182	-3,777		
Standard Single-Family	1,500	\$100	4,442	666		
Owned Multi-Family	1,200	\$100	3,017	362		
Rented Multi-Family	1,200	\$100	17,724	2,127		

Table 4. Assumptions Applied to Housing Data in EIOLCA

Notes: The table shows the assumptions made for each housing type. The size and construction cost of the Luxury Single-Family home is assumed to be the same as that of the Standard Single-Family home. In reality, most luxury homes in this region are larger than 1,500 sq. ft. and more expensive to build. These conservative assumptions are made to illustrate that the aggregate results are not contingent on assumptions regarding the differences in cost and size of these homes.

While this \$100 per sq. ft. cost factor is in line with existing estimates, the size of luxury homes in the Sacramento region are generally larger than 1,500 sq. ft. If the assumed size of luxury homes were increased in this model, the spending on luxury homes would rise and result in larger reductions in energy and emissions from the reduction in luxury home construction. Thus, the analysis demonstrate that even at these lower bounds, the reduction in luxury homes and the shift towards smaller homes still have the largest relative impact.

Table 5 illustrates a summary of the EIOLCA GHG impacts of the PRB. The table shows each PECAS sector with its consumption under both the BAU and PRB scenarios. The difference between these scenarios is shown as well as the payroll within the sector as derived from the CBP. The ratio (5th column value / 6th column value) that scales the EIOLCA results for the entire sector is then given. The total GHG emissions in t CO₂e is shown for each PECAS sector. Table 5 also provides breakdowns of the fossil CO₂e, CH₄, N₂O, and "other," which include hydrocarbon matter among other subgroups.

Table 5 shows that overall the PRB causes emissions to increase due to increased economic activity in the PECAS sectors. In several sectors, such as communications and utilities, there is a reduction in activity, causing a reduction in emissions. The reduction, in this case, is driven by more compact land uses, resulting in reduced consumption of communication and utility services within the region. However, absent a shift in the corresponding housing stock, the EIOLCA model predicts total CO_2e would increase by 1,037,864 t from upstream economic activity resulting from an economy restructured by the PRB scenario. The overall reduction in CO_2e comes from the shift in housing stock. This reduces CO_2e emissions by a much larger 2,165,959 t. The net effect is a reduction of 1,128,095 t CO_2e , as a result changes in economic activity upstream of consumption and housing construction due to implementation of the PRB.

					<u>ه = </u>		Greenhous (over 25	e Gas Em years) (t (nissions CO,e)	
Activity	BAU PECAS Sector Consumption (\$ million)	PRB PECAS Sector Consumption (\$ million)	Consumption Difference [PRB – BAU] (\$ million)	Sector Payroll in 2009 (\$ million)	Consumption Difference Divided by Sector Payro [([PRB-BAU) / Payroll] (%	Total	Fossil	CH	0 ² Z	Other
Agriculture (plus Mining)	3,465	3,466	0.177	335	0.0529	10,481	4,063	3,414	2,726	273
Construction	12,113	12,113	-0.003	617	-0.0004	-41	-33	-2	-1	-5
Manufacturing	24,926	24,926	0.002	738	0.0003	38	27	2	2	7
Transportation Services	4,324	4,327	2.650	715	0.3708	72,591	65,638	5,016	214	1,743
Communications and Utilities	7,958	7,956	-2.081	1,605	-0.1297	-58,351	-51,868	-4,895	-418	-1,287
Wholesale Trade	20,652	20,652	-0.186	1,879	-0.0099	-891	-775	-68	-11	-35
Retail Trade	21,430	21,467	36.859	2,378	1.5498	244,095	216,586	17,474	2,786	7,296
Restaurants	2,870	2,882	12.102	883	1.3707	175,444	128,156	24,912	15,797	6,569
Finance Insurance Legal	11,657	11,681	24.330	2,573	0.9455	51,530	44,202	4,515	799	1,808
Real Estate	27,978	27,990	11.792	538	2.1917	78,352	63,558	11,506	1,216	2,191
Hotels	1,104	1,106	1.906	1,136	0.1678	5,957	5,160	566	111	122
Business Services	10,350	10,351	0.404	693	0.0582	1,717	1,513	130	22	57
Automotive Services	3,307	3,314	7.446	197	3.7887	64,976	52,852	5,437	820	5,835
Amusement Services	1,372	1,376	4.360	443	0.9851	47,038	36,941	5,369	2,931	1,758
Health Services	8,572	8,607	34.808	5,136	0.6777	232,105	184,667	27,277	8,962	11,402
Primary Education	213	215	1.841	217	0.8487	24,613	20,221	2,886	772	664
Other Education	1,261	1,264	2.690	140	1.9189	13,049	10,842	1,319	166	715
Personal Services	2,670	2,676	5.809	235	2.4734	40,625	34,318	3,531	541	2,232
Membership & Non-Profit Orgs.	946	950	3.900	622	0.6275	29,492	24,786	3,059	573	1,082
Professional Services	\$ 11,511	11,512	1.144	2,852	0.0401	4,832	4,080	417	100	236
Government Nonutility Enterprises	4,167	4,167	0.021	1,262	0.0017	213	102	101	3	7
Military	0	0	0.000	0	0.0000	0	0	0	0	0
PECAS Economic Sector Subtotal						1,037,864	845,037	111,964	38,111	42,671
Luxury Single-Family	391,854	366,672	-25,182	-3,777	-3.78	-2,489,234	-1,926,418	-143,159	-61,192	-357,860
Standard Single- Family	702,414	706,856	4,442	666	0.67	93,939	92,607	255	575	596
Owned Multi-Family	35,454	38,471	3,017	362	0.36	50,682	50,682	0	0	0
Rented Multi-Family	146,739	164,463	17,724	2,127	2.13	178,654	74,652	0	0	104,002
PECAS Housing Type Subtotal						-2,165,959	-1,708,477	-142,905	-60,617	-253,263

Table 5.	EIOLCA Greenhouse	Gas Impacts of the	Sacramento Blueprint
----------	-------------------	--------------------	----------------------

NET TOTAL

-1,128,095 -863,441 -30,941 -22,506 -210,592

Source: PECAS Model, EIOLCA Model, US Census 2009 County Business Patterns for Sacramento MSA. BAU = Business-as-usual scenario. PRB = Preferred Blueprint scenario.

 $t CO_2 e = metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent.$

Table 5 presents a lot of information that illustrates the overall impact of the PRB in contrast to the BAU. The top section of the table shows the shifts in economic activity that result from the two scenarios. Each row illustrates the shift sector-by-sector, and the sixth column shows the percentage change. It is notable that many of the changes within sector are not significant at all. A total of 15 sectors exhibit changes less than one percent in terms of shifts in the annual consumption of goods and services. Other consumption shifts are also small in terms of percentages. Hence, the overall impact from upstream emissions resulting from shifts in economic activity is small. Furthermore, emissions tend to track together, particularly when energy use is reduced, and the results find that energy and other emissions also fall as a result of the dynamics of shifting housing stock and economic activity. Table 6 shows the projected change in energy use in terajoules (TJ) from the PECAS model simulation of the PRB.

		Enei	rgy Use (ov	er 25 years)) (TJ)	
Activity	Total	Coal	Petroleum	Natural Gas	Biogenic or Waste	Non-Fossil Electricity
Agriculture (plus Mining)	68	13	32	14	1	9
Construction	-1	0	0	0	0	0
Manufacturing	1	0	0	0	0	0
Transportation Services	1,029	95	731	131	11	60
Communications And Utilities	-710	-412	-65	-182	-9	-40
Wholesale Trade	-14	-3	-5	-3	-1	-2
Retail Trade	3,797	1,352	740	821	98	787
Restaurants	2,244	737	452	593	91	370
Finance Insurance Legal	799	217	225	189	40	128
Real Estate	1,096	442	151	248	18	236
Hotels	94	32	14	24	3	21
Business Services	27	9	5	7	1	5
Automotive Services	947	314	187	268	32	152
Amusement Services	645	199	144	180	16	106
Health Services	3,270	956	796	849	153	515
Primary Education	361	89	65	152	8	47
Other Education	196	46	57	58	11	24
Personal Services	611	209	108	161	21	112
Membership & Non-Profit Orgs.	438	124	114	113	16	71
Professional Services	71	20	22	17	3	10
Government Nonutility Enterprises	2	0	1	0	0	0

Table 6.EIOLCA-Projected Change in Energy Use as a Result of PRB Relative to
BAU

		Energy Use (over 25 years) (TJ)								
Activity	Total	Coal	Petroleum	Natural Gas	Biogenic or Waste	Non- Fossil Electricity				
Military	0	0	0	0	0	0				
PECAS Economic Sector Subtotal	14,970	4,438	3,774	3,641	515	2,610				
Luxury Single-Family	-33,656	-7,215	-13,107	-7,932	-2,036	-3,369				
Standard Single-Family	1,506	0	1,253	167	0	87				
Owned Multi-Family	623	453	22	132	0	15				
Rented Multi-Family	1,034	623	166	54	95	96				
PECAS Housing Type Subtotal	-30,494	-6,139	-11,667	-7,579	-1,941	-3,172				
NET TOTAL	-15,523	-1,701	-7,893	-3,938	-1,427	-562				

Source: PECAS Model, EIOLCA Model, US Census 2009 County Business Patterns for Sacramento MSA. *Notes:* TJ = terajoule.

As with the change in GHG, the change in energy is driven by the change in luxury SF. To quantify the change in toxic releases from PECAS and EIOLCA, Table 7 illustrates the change across sectors, in which the broader trend and dynamic remains the same.

	Toxic Releases (over 25 years)								
Activity	Fugitive (kg)	Stack (kg)	Total Air (kg)	Surface Water (kg)	Underground Water (kg)	Land (kg)	Offsite (kg)	Publicly Owned Treatment Works Metal	Publicly Owned Treatment Works Nonmetal
Agriculture (plus Mining)	72	421	492	80	118	464	128	1	79
Construction	-1	-4	-5	-1	-1	-8	-3	0	-1
Manufacturing	2	8	9	1	1	11	5	0	2
Transportation Services	433	2,383	2,809	402	362	3,569	1,252	8	525
Communications and Utilities	-213	-6,613	-6,840	-208	-190	-5,641	-1,290	-4	-389
Wholesale Trade	-17	-100	-117	-12	-13	-151	-40	0	-22
Retail Trade	2,863	28,207	31,074	2,100	2,681	30,686	8,873	53	3,952
Restaurants	2,981	18,915	21,896	4,215	2,303	22,616	6,031	31	5,037
Finance Insurance Legal	1,005	6,193	7,186	690	688	8,509	2,033	13	1,267
Real Estate	524	7,726	8,274	482	1,293	26,683	3,326	9	833
Hotels	60	659	721	51	47	579	158	1	82
Business Services	25	207	231	20	21	298	70	0	41
Automotive Services	1,487	8,733	10,229	1,601	1,572	24,627	9,320	70	2,624
Amusement Services	517	4,384	4,901	493	983	27,829	1,645	8	692
Health Services	4,252	25,921	30,326	4,540	6,116	59,297	10,030	67	9,199
Primary Education	221	1,935	2,164	269	267	2,652	696	4	410
Other Education	271	1,449	1,722	233	504	15,687	907	4	406
Personal Services	829	5,707	6,554	668	1,107	20,838	2,993	17	1,422
Membership & Non-Profit Orgs.	422	3,075	3,498	344	449	7,232	1,145	6	558
Professional Services	91	551	642	76	88	1,173	252	1	147

Table 7. EIOLCA-Projected Change in Toxic Releases as a Result of PRB

				Toxic Re	leases (o	ver 25 yea	ars)		
Activity	Fugitive (kg)	Stack (kg)	Total Air (kg)	Surface Water (kg)	Underground Water (kg)	Land (kg)	Offsite (kg)	Publicly Owned Treatment Works Metal	Publicly Owned Treatment Works Nonmetal
Government Nonutility Enterprises	2	12	14	2	8	65	19	0	4
Military	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
PECAS Economic Sector Subtotal	15,827	109,765	125,781	16,047	18,403	247,018	47,548	290	26,869
Luxury Single-Family	-52,882	-330,135	-381,506	-40,417	-47,216	-453,275	-174,889	-827	-64,214
Standard Single-Family	1,086	1,706	2,792	1,299	3,285	60	434	15	4,597
Owned Multi-Family	550	1,723	2,277	7	0	7	163	0	139
Rented Multi-Family	2,169	3,488	5,657	2,020	423	55	351	9	466
PECAS Housing Type Subtotal	-49,076	-323,218	-370,780	-37,090	-43,508	-453,152	-173,941	-803	-59,012
NET TOTAL	-33,249	-213,453	-244,999	-21,044	-25,106	-206,134	-126,393	-513	-32,143

Source: PECAS Model, EIOLCA Model, US Census 2009 County Business Patterns for Sacramento MSA.

Finally, EIOLCA also produces estimates of changes in water usage that result from economic activities in specific sectors. In addition, the flow of dollars that result from spending in each sector is indicated as a function of direct and indirect economic activity. These EIOLCA outputs are given in Table 8.

	10/- (Economic Activity (over 25 years)					
PECAS Sector	Water Withdrawals (over 25 years) (kGal)	Total Economic Activity (\$ millions)	Direct Economic Activity (\$ millions)	Indirect Economic Activity (\$ millions)			
Agriculture (plus Mining)	829,713	10	8	1			
Construction	-428	0	0	0			
Manufacturing	1,201	0	0	0			
Transportation Services	354,149	123	97	7			
Communications and Utilities	-1,351,809	-91	-75	-3			
Wholesale Trade	-12,860	-7	-6	0			
Retail Trade	4,920,654	1,414	1,217	33			
Restaurants	5,756,745	579	442	26			
Finance Insurance Legal	869,860	1,014	853	20			
Real Estate	1,610,872	425	374	48			
Hotels	129,617	18	15	3			
Business Services	31,573	16	14	1			
Automotive Services	1,146,080	344	266	73			

Table 8.EIOLCA-Projected Change in Water Use and Economic Activity as a
Result of PRB

	Watar	Economi	Economic Activity (over 25 years)					
PECAS Sector	Water Withdrawals (over 25 years) (kGal)	Total Economic Activity (\$ millions)	Direct Economic Activity (\$ millions)	Indirect Economic Activity (\$ millions)				
Amusement Services	1,482,569	187	153	20				
Health Services	4,591,274	1,452	1,206	14				
Primary Education	475,291	80	65	17				
Other Education	191,413	112	94	40				
Personal Services	834,766	232	194	52				
Membership & Non-Profit Orgs.	553,765	196	157	13				
Professional Services	81,910	45	38	1				
Government Nonutility Enterprises	1,592	1	1	0				
Military	0	0	0	0				
PECAS Economic Sector Subtotal	22,497,946	6,150	5,114	368				
Luxury Single-Family	-30,671,596	-8,121	-5,968	-278				
Standard Single-Family	2,671,612	666	666	67				
Owned Multi-Family	405,454	33	32	35				
Rented Multi-Family	1,675,942	136	71	111				
PECAS Housing Type Subtotal	-25,918,588	-7,286	-5,199	-65				
NET TOTAL	-3,420,643	-1,136	-85	303				

Source: PECAS Model, EIOLCA Model, US Census 2009 County Business Patterns for Sacramento MSA.

The estimation from the EIOLCA model suggests that the PRB would reduce life cycle energy and emissions of GHG, toxics, and water use from upstream economic activities. These results are broadly driven by the impact of the shift in housing stock as forecasted by the PECAS model. The model suggests that the shift in housing stock overwhelms the increase in economic consumption-related emissions as simulated by the Sacramento PECAS model. The results indicate, in part, that changes in consumption activity may not be a primary source of LCA impacts associated with improved land use and transportation planning. Other changes more directly related to reduced infrastructure construction appear more likely to dominate. The estimation of impacts from the shift in housing stock are conservatively low, assuming luxury homes the same size and cost as standard single-family homes. At the same time, the estimation of impacts from changes in consumption are conservatively high, as the differences in annual consumption observed by PECAS during the final year of the forecast (2035), are assumed to be constant over the 25 year simulation.

Finally, it is important to understand that the analysis, as based on the EIOLCA model, shows the impacts on energy and emissions up to point of use of a product. Critically, it does not include the GHG emissions from the energy used to operate or use the goods and services introduced into the system. These activities can have important implications, but are outside of the modeling scope of EIOLCA and PECAS. Naturally, while the comparison here is important for understanding the relative impacts of the shift in housing stock and economic consumption, there is a broader scope of impacts that should be considered in future research. These include changes in automotive use, household heating, operational requirements, as well as other activities that produce direct emissions not measured in

this analysis. The scope of this LCA analysis is the appropriate methodological approach and empirical results of the relative impacts of upstream emissions that from a change in consumption and housing stock. This serves as a foundation for future research to obtain a complete understanding of the emissions impact of land use planning.

VI. COMPLIANCE AND NON-COMPLIANCE

This section's study builds on the findings from two previous studies,³⁹ which suggest potential economic incentives for jurisdictional non-compliance, by simulating a set of scenarios with the Sacramento PECAS model, in which multiple jurisdictions partially pursue BAU as opposed to the PRB, and at differing rates. Because SB 375 does not require local governments to adopt general plans that are consistent with the land use plans included in SCSs, such incentives could jeopardize implementation of SCSs and achievement of GHG goals.

METHODS

In each scenario, each jurisdiction in the region is randomly designated as either "complying" or "non-complying." Within the non-complying jurisdictions, each land use type (e.g., retail space, luxury single-family housing) within each LUZ was randomly assigned a percentage for which it would develop according to the BAU scenario. The assigned percentages of non-compliance were limited to 5 percent, 10 percent, 15 percent, and 20 percent.

One hundred and fifty (150) randomly generated scenarios were created and simulated with the Sacramento PECAS model. In each scenario, total amount of industrial floorspace by sector and number of total housing units in the region is held constant at the levels established for the PRB scenario, while the number of housing units by type is allowed to vary based on demand. This scenario configuration is not a feature of the PECAS model, but was instead a choice made in the study design in order to keep the analysis more tractable. In order to hold the regional amount of different land uses at a constant level, the changes in land use in the non-complying jurisdictions are allocated to zones in the region's jurisdictions that complied with the PRB development plan. Because allocation is weighted by relative share of zonal housing units and industry by sector in the PRB plan, zones with the more total land use supply obtain a larger share of the change in supply resulting from the BAU development in the non-complying jurisdictions.

The results of the scenarios provide insight into how changes in the relative supply of the four housing types represented in the model (luxury single-family housing units, standard single-family housing units, owned multi-family housing units, and rented multi-family housing units), and holding other factors constant, might influence housing values, rents, wages, commute costs, and consumer surplus (total and by-income class) across the region, and in conforming and non-conforming jurisdictions.

RESULTS

The means and standard deviations of the main consumer-related variables compiled from the non-compliance scenarios are presented in Table 9. These results suggest that when non-compliance increases luxury single-family units and decreases standard single-family, as well as owned and rented multi-family units (all else being equal), then consumer surplus tends to increase at the regional level and in non-conformity jurisdictions, while it declines somewhat for complying jurisdictions. For both non-complying and complying jurisdictions, it appears that these surplus changes are caused by relative changes in living

expenses (in terms of rent, housing value, and commute cost) and earning. Only in the case of non-complying jurisdictions do increased earnings outweigh increased expenses.

	Region		Non-C Juris	Non-Complying Jurisdictions		plying ictions
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Luxury Single-Family Housing Units (%)	0.40	0.32	0.57	1.03	0.00	0.80
Standard Single-Family Housing Units (%)	-0.01	0.14	-0.12	0.84	-0.03	0.77
Owned Multi-Family Housing Units (%)	-0.52	0.33	-1.03	0.81	-0.07	0.80
Rented Multi-Family Housing Units (%)	-0.70	0.45	-1.26	0.73	-0.07	0.79
Total Housing Units (%)	0.00	0.00	-0.11	0.80	-0.03	0.77
Average Housing Value (%)	0.15	0.10	0.17	0.15	0.10	0.08
Average Rent (%)	0.41	0.22	0.94	0.26	0.26	0.14
Average Wages (%)	0.05	0.02	0.07	0.02	0.03	0.02
Average Commute Costs (%)	0.47	0.27	0.68	0.45	0.13	0.24
Average Consumer Surplus (\$ thousands)	163	253	237	250	-72	42

Table 9.	Mean C	hange in	Metrics f	or the	PRB	Relative	to BAU

Notes: Standard Deviation (SD). Consumer surplus measured in year 2000 U.S. Nominal Dollars.

While these average results provide some idea of the potential consequences of noncompliance, the standard deviation of many of these results is quite large due to the wide variation in how each scenario's non-complying jurisdictions alters their housing supplies. The probability density functions for the changes in each of the housing unit types, shown in Figure 5, provide a more complete picture of the variation in which random noncompliance can impact the supplies of these commodities in the region, non-complying jurisdictions, and complying jurisdictions. The wide distributions of values in non-complying and complying jurisdictions for the different housing unit types clarify the large standard deviations seen in Table 9.

Finally, the probability density function for average consumer surplus is presented in Figure 6. The graph shows that the distributions of consumer surplus for non-complying jurisdictions and the region are dispersed over a wide range of both positive and negative values, with peaks in the distribution from below -\$100,000 to greater than \$500,000. By contrast, the distribution for complying jurisdictions is highly concentrated around the mean, illustrating that these jurisdictions rarely benefit from the non-compliance of other jurisdictions in the region. The constant, low-magnitude decrease in consumer surplus for non-complying jurisdictions also suggests that, as hypothesized in the previous study on non-compliance, the average change within the non-complying jurisdictions is often in the same direction as the region overall. If non-complying jurisdictions benefit significantly from their actions, the region will likely benefit at a slightly lower magnitude. However, if the non-complying jurisdictions see significant decreases in surplus, one cannot expect the region's surplus to be balanced out by equivalent surplus gains in complying jurisdictions.





Figure 6. Probability Density Function of Average Consumer Surplus

In order to explore the relationships between regional consumer surplus and the quantity changes of different types of housing, a more in depth analysis was performed using the scenario outputs for (1) the regional supply changes for different housing unit types and (2) the average regional consumer surplus.

First, Table 10 describes the trends in housing quantity for the non-compliance scenarios. The majority of scenarios have increases in luxury single-family housing (N=145) and decreases in both owned (N=144) and rented (N=143) multi-family housing; however, standard single-family housing has a less distinct pattern.

Table 10. Number of Scenarios by Direction of Supply Change by Housing Type in
Non-Compliance Scenarios

	Number of Scenarios (N)		
Housing Unit Type	Increasing	Decreasing	
Luxury Single-Family	145	5	
Standard Single-Family	83	67	
Owned Multi-Family	6	144	
Rented Multi-Family	7	143	

Next, a linear regression was performed to test the hypothesis that regional consumer surplus increases with the regional supply of luxury single-family housing. Figure 7 below presents the results of the regression for these two variables.



Figure 7. Estimated Change in Regional Average Consumer Surplus versus Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units

As the graph shows, there is a positive correlation between the regional supply of luxury single-family housing and regional consumer surplus. However, because the consumer surplus value for a given quantity change of luxury housing varies so significantly, the R2 value of this correlation is only about 0.05. The low predictive power of this relationship suggests that, as one might expect with such a comprehensive model, the overall regional consumer surplus depends on other factors besides the supply of luxury single-family housing, such as which housing type replaces these housing units or where in the region these additional luxury units are located.

Next, the non-compliance scenario results were split into two categories based on whether the quantity of standard single-family housing units increased in the region. The categories were comparable in size, with 83 of the scenarios in the "increased standard SF" category and 67 in the "decreased standard SF" category (see Table 10). This categorization of scenarios was done in order to determine whether, in accordance with the hypothesis mentioned previously, increasing both single-family housing units types will result in a lower regional consumer surplus than if only luxury single-family housing units increase.

Before looking at consumer surplus, the change in luxury single-family housing was plotted against the change in both rented and owned multi-family housing to determine whether there is in fact a significant difference in the reduction of the latter for a given increase in luxury units that would lead to a difference in consumer surplus. The results in Figure 8 verify this hypothesis; in cases that both single-family housing types increase, multi-family

housing decreases by almost three percent for each percentage increase luxury units (R2 = 0.63). By contrast, when standard single-family housing decreases, the same increase in luxury housing results in less than a two percent reduction in multi-family housing (R2 = 0.57). Thus, there is evidence that the impact of non-compliance on the supply of multi-family housing, and accordingly the living expenses for low-income residents, depends on the supply of standard single-family housing.



Figure 8. Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units versus Change in Regional Supply of Multi-Family Housing Units

The mean and standard deviation of average consumer surplus for each of the categories is shown in Table 11. With a t-statistic of 0.013 (two-tailed), the difference in consumer surplus between these two groups is statistically significant at the 95 percent level, with a lower average consumer surplus in the group with an increasing supply of standard single-family housing and thus a greater reduction in the supply of multi-family housing.

Table 11. Mean and Standard Deviation of Average Consumer Surplus by
Scenario Type

		Average Co (in	nsumer Surplus \$1,000)
Scenario Category	Number of Scenarios (N)	Mean	Standard Deviation
Standard Single-Family Increases	87	144	237
Standard Single-Family Decreases	63	228	235



Figure 9. Estimated Change in Regional Average Consumer Surplus versus Change in Regional Supply of Luxury Single-Family Housing Units

Linear regressions were also performed on the two groups of scenarios, with the results shown in Figure 9. Illustrating the results in this manner shows a clear difference between scenarios in which both single-family housing unit types increase and those in which there are only increases in luxury single-family housing units. When both commodities increase, there is no longer a positive correlation between luxury single-family housing and consumer surplus; instead, there is a decrease in consumer surplus for each percentage increase in the housing quantity. This is in contrast to cases in which only one housing type increases, where a one-percentage increase in luxury single-family housing increases consumer surplus by over \$200,000. This supports the hypothesis that increases in luxury housing needs to be coupled with decreases in standard single-family housing in order to dampen the impact of the shift on low-income residents.

As in the previous regression, however, the predictive powers of these relationships are not strong, with R2 values of 0.02 and 0.13 for the increasing and decreasing groups, respectively. Despite the weaknesses of the associations, these results provide some preliminary evidence that the supply of standard single-family housing is an important factor in how consumer surplus in the region will be impacted by non-compliance.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

In this study, the economic production and consumption data from the PRB and BAU scenarios, as simulated with the Sacramento PECAS model, are used to estimate the change in life cycle GHG emissions. The EIOLCA is applied to evaluate effects related to changes in economic production and consumption as well as housing construction. The results indicate that total CO₂e would increase by 1,037,864 metric tons from upstream economic activities in the PRB scenario relative to the BAU. However, GHG emissions arising from the shift in construction from luxury to smaller single- and multi-family housing units are estimated to reduce CO_2e emissions by a larger 2,165,959 metric tons. Changes in economic activities may be underestimated in the PRB scenario because of the assumption of constant total economic size. However, changes in economic activities (from the BAU to the PRB) would have to at least double to offset the reductions in GHG emissions from housing construction, which is unlikely.

It is important to note that the analysis of life cycle GHG emissions included production, but not use and distribution of goods and services demanded by consumers or purchasers in each scenario. GHG emissions from the distribution and use of the travel system is estimated to decline in the PRB relative to the BAU, as discussed above; however, it is unclear how use of products and services impact the results of this study.

In addition, a set of non-compliance scenarios are developed where multiple jurisdictions partially pursue BAU as opposed to the PRB, and at differing rates. One hundred and fifty (150) non-compliance scenarios were developed in which randomly assigned jurisdictions developed 5 percent, 10 percent, 15 percent or 20 percent according to the BAU. The results indicate that, on average, when non-conformity increases the supply of luxury single-family housing units in non-complying jurisdictions, the average household in the non-complying jurisdiction experiences increased economic benefits, while the average household in the complying region experiences economic losses. The total net benefits in the non-complying jurisdictions are large enough to offset the losses in conformity jurisdiction to produce net benefits for the average regional household. However, if both luxury and standard single-family housing increase as a result of non-conformity, then economic benefits decline on the average for non-complying and complying jurisdictions. At this point, the more heavily weighted gains of the higher income households are not great enough to offset the less heavily weighted losses of the lower income classes.

The following are key findings, implications, and policy recommendations:

- Coordinated land use and transportation plans, such as those envisioned by SB 375, may reduce housing, transport, and labor costs and increase net economic benefits.
- A shift in the supply of larger luxury single-family to multi-family housing in land use and transportation plans may benefit all but the highest income household (assuming consumer preferences remain constant from the year 2000 model estimation and calibration year).

- The overall reduction in home size from this shift in housing supply may more than offset increases in life cycle GHG emissions due to greater economic production that may result from the plan.
- If the consumer preference for larger homes returns to levels observed prior to 2007, developers and jurisdictions may face significant economic incentives to increase the supply of luxury single-family homes over and above that recommended in the regional land use and transportation plan. If this is at the expense of multi-family housing units, then low-income households may face significant economic losses.
- If, however, the early evidence that consumer preferences are shifting in favor of smaller homes coupled with high quality local and regional accessibility, then the land use and transportation plans envisioned under SB 375 are more likely to match market demand and be implemented.
- More research is needed to understand the market preferences for housing in regional land use and transportation plans under SB 375 to realize their potential to improve the economy, equity, and GHG reductions.
- Implementation of SB 375, as well as the regional supply of multi-family housing, should be carefully monitored. Decision makers may find the results of monitoring very useful as they contemplate the need for future revisions to SB 375 over time.

APPENDIX A: COUNTY BUSINESS PATTERN ECONOMIC BREAKDOWN OF SACRAMENTO BY EIOLCA CATEGORY BY PECAS OUTPUT SECTOR

This appendix presents the linked payroll data from the County Business Patterns (CBP) as aligned with the EIOLCA categories in groups defined by the PECAS economic output categories.⁴⁰ The dollar values in each table comprise the input to EIOLCA for each custom product. Each PECAS sector had its own custom product constructed. Only the Agriculture sector did not pull information from the CBP. Rather, agricultural data from the USDA was available, reporting sales within Sacramento that pertained to specific EIOLCA sectors that aligned better than the alignment in the CBP.⁴¹ All other data is CBP data for 2009.

CONSTRUCTION				
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy	
230101	Nonresidential commercial and health care structures	88.9545	14%	
230102	Nonresidential manufacturing structures	88.9545	14%	
230103	Other nonresidential structures	88.9545	14%	
230201	Residential permanent site single- and multi-family structures	87.0727	14%	
230202	Other residential structures	87.0727	14%	
230301	Nonresidential maintenance and repair	88.9545	14%	
230302	Residential maintenance and repair	87.0727	14%	
	Total	617.0360	100%	

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES				
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy	
481000	Air transportation	46.078	6%	
484000	Truck transportation	203.284	28%	
485000	Transit and ground passenger transportation	39.619	6%	
486000	Pipeline transportation	3.932	1%	
48A000	Scenic and sightseeing transportation and support activities for transportation	108.886	15%	
492000	Couriers and messengers	147.39	21%	
493000	Warehousing and storage	165.475	23%	
	Total	714.664	100%	

COMMUNICATIONS AND UTILITIES					
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy		
221100	Electric power generation, transmission, and distribution	139.09	9%		
221200	Natural gas distribution	85.033	5%		
221300	Water, sewage and other systems	10.256	1%		
511110	Newspaper publishers	80.783	5%		
511120	Periodical publishers	29.449	2%		
511130	Book publishers	0.773	0%		
5111A0	Directory, mailing list, and other publishers	20.366	1%		
511200	Software publishers	170.164	11%		
512100	Motion picture and video industries	17.608	1%		

COMMUNICATIONS AND UTILITIES				
512200	Sound recording industries	1.946	0%	
515100	Radio and television broadcasting	107.779	7%	
515200	Cable and other subscription programming	1.536	0%	
517000	Telecommunications	718.253	45%	
518200	Data processing, hosting, and related services	181.34	11%	
519100	Other information services	40.829	3%	
	Total	1605.205	100%	

WHOLESALE TRADE				
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy	
420000	Wholesale trade	1879.055	100%	
	Total	1879.055	100%	

RETAIL TRADE				
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy	
4A0000	Retail trade	2378.284	100%	
	Total	2378.284	100%	

RESTAURANTS				
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy	
722000	Food services and drinking places	882.967	100%	
	Total	882.967	100%	

FINANCE INSURANCE LEGAL					
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy		
52A000	Monetary authorities and depository credit intermediation	582.79	23%		
522A00	Nondepository credit intermediation and related activities	275.256	11%		
523000	Securities, commodity contracts, investments, and related activities	334.418	13%		
524100	Insurance carriers	987.69	38%		
524200	Insurance agencies, brokerages, and related activities	392.951	15%		
525000	Funds, trusts, and other financial vehicles	0.116	0%		
	Total	2573.221	100%		

REAL ESTATE			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
531000	Real estate	402.37	75%
532100	Automotive equipment rental and leasing	58.761	11%
532A00	General and consumer goods rental except video tapes and discs	26.591	5%
532230	Video tape and disc rental	9.623	2%
532400	Commercial and industrial machinery and equipment rental and leasing	38.63	7%
533000	Lessors of nonfinancial intangible assets	2.077	0%
	Total	538.052	100%

HOTELS			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
7211A0	Hotels and motels, including casino hotels	243.074	21%
721A00	Other accommodations	9.904	1%
722000	Food services and drinking places	882.967	78%
	Total	1135.945	100%

BUSINESS SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
550000	Management of companies and enterprises	693.338	100%
	Total	693.338	100%

AUTOMOTIVE SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
8111A0	Automotive repair and maintenance, except car washes	179.679	91%
811192	Car washes	16.857	9%
	Total	196.536	100%

AMUSEMENT SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
711100	Performing arts companies	10.738	2%
711200	Spectator sports	97.458	22%
711A00	Promoters of performing arts and sports and agents for public figures	13.485	3%
711500	Independent artists, writers, and performers	1.725	0%
712000	Museums, historical sites, zoos, and parks	9.349	2%
713A00	Amusement parks, arcades, and gambling industries	158.916	36%
713B00	Other amusement and recreation industries	91.597	21%
713940	Fitness and recreational sports centers	52.89	12%
713950	Bowling centers	6.427	1%
	Total	442.585	100%

HEALTH SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
621A00	Offices of physicians, dentists, and other health practitioners	1975.639	38%
621B00	Medical and diagnostic labs and outpatient and other ambulatory care services	390.955	8%
621600	Home health care services	100.561	2%
622000	Hospitals	1858.964	36%
623000	Nursing and residential care facilities	401.83	8%
624A00	Individual and family services	270.331	5%
624200	Community food, housing, and other relief services, including rehabilitation services	56.974	1%
624400	Child day care services	81.074	2%
	Total	5136.328	100%

PRIMARY EDUCATION			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
611100	Elementary and secondary schools	129.124	60%
611A00	Junior colleges, colleges, universities, and professional schools	87.767	40%
	Total	216.891	100%

OTHER EDUCATION			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
611B00	Other educational services	140.173	100%
	Total	140.173	100%

PERSONAL SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
811200	Electronic and precision equipment repair and maintenance	44.177	19%
811300	Commercial and industrial machinery and equipment repair and maintenance	19.6	8%
811400	Personal and household goods repair and maintenance	13.195	6%
812100	Personal care services	53.598	23%
812200	Death care services	15.761	7%
812300	Dry-cleaning and laundry services	62.355	27%
812900	Other personal services	26.183	11%
	Total	234.869	100%

MEMBERSHIP & NON-PROFIT ORGS			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
813100	Religious organizations	175.578	28%
813A00	Grantmaking, giving, and social advocacy organizations	131.114	21%
813B00	Civic, social, professional, and similar organizations	314.88	51%
	Total	621.572	100%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
541100	Legal services	541.526	19%
541200	Accounting, tax preparation, bookkeeping, and payroll services	208.502	7%
541300	Architectural, engineering, and related services	720.676	25%
541400	Specialized design services	14.621	1%
541511	Custom computer programming services	203.655	7%
541512	Computer systems design services	168.304	6%
54151A	Other computer related services, including facilities management	164.742	6%
541610	Management, scientific, and technical consulting services	201.457	7%
5416A0	Environmental and other technical consulting services	134.396	5%
541700	Scientific research and development services	199.018	7%
541800	Advertising and related services	124.22	4%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES			
5419A0	All other miscellaneous professional, scientific, and technical services	77.546	3%
541920	Photographic services	5.84	0%
541940	Veterinary services	87.198	3%
	Total	2851.701	100%

GOVERNMENT NONUTILITY ENTERPRISES			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
561100	Office administrative services	190.324	15%
561200	Facilities support services	26.317	2%
561400	Business support services	125.058	10%
561600	Investigation and security services	144.127	11%
561700	Services to buildings and dwellings	287.06	23%
561900	Other support services	41.164	3%
561300	Employment services	329.396	26%
561500	Travel arrangement and reservation services	27.107	2%
562000	Waste management and remediation services	91.837	7%
	Total	1262.39	100%

AGRICULTURE			
IO Code	EIOLCA Sector	Adjusted Sales (\$1,000)	% of Economy
	Oilseed farming	\$13,512	4%
	Grain farming	\$13,512	4%
111910	Tobacco farming	\$0	0%
111920	Cotton farming	\$0	0%
	Vegetable and melon farming	\$15,838	5%
111335	Tree nut farming	\$48,047	14%
1113A0	Fruit farming	\$48,047	14%
111400	Greenhouse and nursery production	\$57,813	17%
113A00	Forest nurseries, forest products, and timber tracts	\$0	0%
1119B0	All other crop farming	\$0	0%
112300	Poultry and egg production	\$19,764	6%
1121A0	Cattle ranching and farming	\$18,353	5%
112120	Milk production	\$74,103	22%
112A00	Animal production, except cattle and poultry and eggs	\$2,738	1%
114100	Fishing	\$23,529	7%
	Total	\$335,256	100%

MINING			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Economy
211000	Oil and gas extraction	1.874	4%
2122A0	Gold, silver, and other metal ore mining	0.044	0%
212310	Stone mining and quarrying	19.524	41%
212320	Sand, gravel, clay, and ceramic and refractory minerals mining and quarrying	13.899	29%
213111	Drilling oil and gas wells	8.358	17%

MINING			
213112	Support activities for oil and gas operations	3.472	7%
21311A	Support activities for other mining	0.674	1%
	Total	47.845	100%

Manufacturing Payroll			
IO Code	IO Sector	Millions (\$)	% of Sector
311111	Dog and cat food manufacturing	0.102	0.014%
311119	Other animal food manufacturing	0.071	0.010%
311210	Flour milling and malt manufacturing	23.121	3.133%
31122A	Soybean and other oilseed processing	0.073	0.010%
311330	Confectionery manufacturing from purchased chocolate	0.457	0.062%
311340	Nonchocolate confectionery manufacturing	0.24	0.033%
31161A	Animal (except poultry) slaughtering, rendering, and processing	0.604	0.082%
311820	Cookie, cracker, and pasta manufacturing	3.022	0.410%
311940	Seasoning and dressing manufacturing	4.178	0.566%
311990	All other food manufacturing	2.462	0.334%
312110	Soft drink and ice manufacturing	37.169	5.037%
312130	Wineries	8.471	1.148%
313310	Textile and fabric finishing mills	0.456	0.062%
314120	Curtain and linen mills	0.977	0.132%
314910	Textile bag and canvas mills	1.791	0.243%
314990	All other textile product mills	0.752	0.102%
315210	Cut and sew apparel contractors	0.738	0.100%
315230	Women's and girls' cut and sew apparel manufacturing	0.292	0.040%
315900	Apparel accessories and other apparel manufacturing	0.251	0.034%
321910	Wood windows and doors and millwork	26.711	3.620%
321920	Wood container and pallet manufacturing	4.497	0.609%
321991	Manufactured home (mobile home) manufacturing	10.253	1.389%
321992	Prefabricated wood building manufacturing	4.817	0.653%
322210	Paperboard container manufacturing	22.375	3.032%
323110	Printing	127.831	17.322%
323120	Support activities for printing	3.963	0.537%
325120	Industrial gas manufacturing	9.163	1.242%
325414	Biological product (except diagnostic) manufacturing	2.786	0.378%
3259A0	All other chemical product and preparation manufacturing	1.675	0.227%
326122	Plastics pipe and pipe fitting manufacturing	4.159	0.564%
326140	Polystyrene foam product manufacturing	0.912	0.124%
32619A	Other plastics product manufacturing	38.296	5.189%
327320	Ready-mix concrete manufacturing	18.679	2.531%
327330	Concrete pipe, brick, and block manufacturing	5.284	0.716%
327390	Other concrete product manufacturing	22.662	3.071%
327991	Cut stone and stone product manufacturing	3.658	0.496%
331520	Nonferrous metal foundries	0.621	0.084%
33211A	All other forging, stamping, and sintering	0.615	0.083%

Manufacturing Payroll			
33211B	Crown and closure manufacturing and metal stamping	2.693	0.365%
332310	Plate work and fabricated structural product manufacturing	27.577	3.737%
332320	Ornamental and architectural metal products manufacturing	49.123	6.657%
332600	Spring and wire product manufacturing	0.711	0.096%
332710	Machine shops	31.36	4.250%
332720	Turned product and screw, nut, and bolt manufacturing	5.889	0.798%
332800	Coating, engraving, heat treating and allied activities	4.904	0.665%
33299C	Other fabricated metal manufacturing	4.474	0.606%
333120	Construction machinery manufacturing	2.87	0.389%
33329A	Other industrial machinery manufacturing	1.45	0.196%
333319	Other commercial and service industry machinery manufacturing	2.377	0.322%
333515	Cutting tool and machine tool accessory manufacturing	8.2	1.111%
333920	Material handling equipment manufacturing	0.398	0.054%
33399A	Other general purpose machinery manufacturing	12.618	1.710%
333993	Packaging machinery manufacturing	0.481	0.065%
334300	Audio and video equipment manufacturing	3.369	0.457%
334418	Printed circuit assembly (electronic assembly) manufacturing	21.649	2.934%
334419	Other electronic component manufacturing	17.295	2.344%
334511	Search, detection, and navigation instruments manufacturing	25.431	3.446%
334515	Electricity and signal testing instruments manufacturing	16.833	2.281%
33451A	Watch, clock, and other measuring and controlling device manufacturing	2.866	0.388%
335930	Wiring device manufacturing	2.002	0.271%
336211	Motor vehicle body manufacturing	3.051	0.413%
336214	Travel trailer and camper manufacturing	7.878	1.068%
336300	Motor vehicle parts manufacturing	9.268	1.256%
336991	Motorcycle, bicycle, and parts manufacturing	0.125	0.017%
337110	Wood kitchen cabinet and countertop manufacturing	15.845	2.147%
337122	Nonupholstered wood household furniture manufacturing	2.423	0.328%
337212	Office furniture and custom architectural woodwork and millwork manufacturing	8.096	1.097%
337215	Showcase, partition, shelving, and locker manufacturing	5.433	0.736%
337910	Mattress manufacturing	1.16	0.157%
339114	Dental equipment and supplies manufacturing	3.365	0.456%
339116	Dental laboratories	12.151	1.647%
339920	Sporting and athletic goods manufacturing	11.395	1.544%
339950	Sign manufacturing	12.399	1.680%
33999A	All other miscellaneous manufacturing	6.614	0.896%
	Total	737.957	100%
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

AA Module	Activity Allocation Module
AB 32	California Assembly Bill 32 Global Warming Solutions Act
ARB	California Air Resources Board
BAU	Business-as-Usual
BEA	Bureau of Economic Analysis
CBP	County Business Patterns
CH4	Methane
CO ₂ e	Carbon Dioxide (CO ₂) Equivalent
DOC	Department of Commerce
ED Module	Economic Demographic Aggregate Forecasting Model Module
EIOLCA	The Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment Model
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
IO	Input-Output
LCA	Life Cycle Assessment
LUSTRE	Land Use, Strategic Transport, and Regional Economy
LUZ	Land Use Zone
MF	Multi-Family
MPO	Metropolitan Planning Organization
MSA	Metropolitan Statistical Area
N ₂ O	Nitrous Oxide
NAICS	North American Industry Classification System
PECAS	Production, Exchange and Consumption Allocation System
PRB	Preferred Blueprint Plan
PUMS	U.S. Census Public Use Microsample
SACOG	Sacramento Area Council of Governments
SACSIM	Sacramento Activity-Based Travel Simulation Model
SB 375	California Senate Bill 375
SCS	Sustainable Community Strategy
SD Module	Space Development Module
SF	Single-Family
t	Metric Ton
TAZ	Transportation Analysis Zone
TR Module	Transport Model Module
ULTRANS	Urban Land Use and Transportation Center
VBA	Visual Basic for Applications
VMT	Vehicle Miles Traveled

ENDNOTES

- Caroline Rodier, Ph.D., John E. Abraham, Ph.D., Brenda N. Dix, John D. Hunt, Ph.D., "Equity Analysis of Land Use and Transportation Plans Using an Integrated Spatial Model," in *Preprint for the 89th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board* (TRB) (Washington, D.C.: TRB, 2010).
- 2. Caroline Rodier, Ph.D., Margot Spillar M.S., M.C.P., John E. Abraham, Ph.D., and John D. Hunt, Ph.D., *Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity to Regional Land Use and Transportation Plans Using a Spatial Economic Model*, Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI) Report 2902 (San Jose, CA: MTI, 2011).
- 3. U.S. Census Bureau, "Characteristics of New Housing" (no date), http://www.census. gov/construction/chars/ (accessed May 13, 2012); National Association of Home Builders, Web site (no date), http://www.nahb.org/ (accessed May 13, 2012); Gregg Logan, Stephanie Siejka, and Shyam Kannan, The Market for Smart Growth, (Orlando FL: Robert Charles Lesser and Company, LLC, 2009); Paul Emrath, Characteristics of Single-Family Homes Started in 2009, (National Association of Home Builders (NAHB), October 7, 2010); Mark J. Eppli and Charles Tu, The Market Acceptance of Single-Family Housing Units in Smart Growth Communities, Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) white paper, (Washington, DC: 2005); Lew Sichelman, "Home Size Inching Up Again," Urban Land Institute Web site (February 8, 2011) http://urbanland. uli.org/Articles/2011/Feb/SichelmanHomeSizes (accessed May 13, 2012); Alex Wilson and Jessica Boehland, "Small Is Beautiful U.S. House Size, Resource Use, and the Environment," Journal of Industrial Ecology 9 (2005): 277–287; Mikhail Horowitz, Size Matters (A Lot): The Mistreatment of House Size in Green Home Rating Systems, (Montpelier, VT: Mikhail Horowitz, 2007); Trilogy Partners Blog, "NAHB Predicts Greener Homes by 2015" (see blog posting by "vkinny" on March 9, 2011), http://blog. trilogybuilds.com/around-town/nahb-predicts-greener-homes-by-2015/ (accessed May 13, 2012): Rose Quint, The New Home in 2015 (National Association of Home Builders (NAHB), March 2, 2011).
- 4. Rodier et al., Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity.
- 5. Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG), *Metropolitan Transportation Plan* (Sacramento, CA: SACOG, 2008).
- Christopher Weber, Deanna Matthews, Aranya Venkatesh, Christine Costello, and H. Scott Mathews, *The 2002 US Benchmark Version of the Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment (EIO-LCA) Model* (last updated March 23, 2010), (Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon, 2010) http://www.eiolca.net/docs/full-document-2002-042310. pdf (accessed May 13, 2012).
- 7. SACOG, Metropolitan Transportation Plan.
- 8. Rodier et al., "Equity Analysis of Land Use and Transportation Plans."

- 9. Rodier et al., "Equity Analysis of Land Use and Transportation Plans;" Rodier et al., *Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity.*
- Caroline J. Rodier and Robert A. Johnston, "Travel, Emissions, and Consumer Welfare Effects of Travel Demand Management Measures," *Transportation Research Record 1598*, (1997); Caroline Rodier, Robert Johnston, and David Shabazian, "Evaluation of Advanced Transit Alternatives Using Consumer Welfare," *Transportation Research C*, 6 (1998): 141-156.
- 11. Peter Nelson, Kenneth Gillingham, and Elena Safirova, *Revving Up the Tax Engine: Gas Taxes and the DC Metro Area's Transportation Dilemma* (Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2003).
- 12. Elizabeth Deakin and Greig Harvey, *Transportation Pricing Strategies for California: An Assessment of Congestion, Emissions, Energy, and Equity Impacts*, prepared for California Air Resources Board Contract No. 92-316 (Sacramento, CA: State of California, 1996).
- 13. Joe Castiglione, Rachel Hiatt, Tilly Chang, and Billy Charlton, "Application of Travel Demand Microsimulation Model and Equity Analysis," *Transportation Research Record 1977* (Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2006).
- 14. Ibid.
- 15. Caroline Rodier, Robert Johnston, and John Abraham, "Heuristic Policy Analysis of Regional Land Use, Transit, and Travel Pricing Scenario Using Two Urban Models," *Transportation Research D* 7 (2002):243-254; Robert Johnston, Shengyi Gao, and Michael Clay, "Modeling Long-Range Transportation and Land Use Scenarios for the Sacramento Region, Using Citizen-Generated Policies," *Transportation Research Record 1981* (Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2005).
- 16. Elena Safirova, Sabastien Houde, and Winston Harrington, *Marginal Social Cost Pricing on a Transportation Network: A Comparison of Second-Best Policies* (Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2007); Elena Safirova, Sabastien Houde, and Winston Harrington, *Spatial Development and Energy Consumption* (Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2007).
- 17. MVA, *Wider Economic Impacts of Transport Interventions: Final Report* (London: Department of Transportation, 2006).
- K. Lautso, K. Spiekermann, Michael Wegener, I. Sheppard, P. Steadman, A. Martino, R. Domingo, S. Gayda, *PROPOLIS: Planning and Research of Policies for Land Use and Transport for Increasing Urban Sustainability* (Helsinki: LT Consultants, 2004); BCI, AUEB, ITS, JRC IPTS, KUL-SADL, LT, Novem, Spiekermann and Wegener, Stratec, TIS, TRL, TRT, TTR, and UPM. Scenarios for the Transport System and Energy Supply and Their Potential Effects: STEPs. Work Package 4 Scenario Impacts: Deliverable 4.2, 2006.

- 19. Karen Lucas, Greg Marsden, Michael Brooks, and Mary Kimble, "Assessment of Capabilities for Examining Long-Term Social Sustainability of Transport and Land Use Strategies." *Transportation Research Record 2013* (Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2007).
- 20. Rodier et al., "Equity Analysis of Land Use and Transportation Plans."
- 21. U.S. Census Bureau, "Characteristics of New Housing"; NAHB, Home page; Logan et al., *The Market for Smart Growth*; Emrath. *Single-Family Homes*; Eppli and Tu, *Market Acceptance*; Sichelman, "Home Size Inches Up Again"; Wilson and Boehland, "Small Is Beautiful"; Horowitz, *Size Matters (A Lot)*; Trilogy Partners Blog, "NAHB Predicts Greener Homes"; Quint, *The New Home in 2015.*
- 22. Daniel Felsenstein, Eyal Ashbel, and Adi Ben-Nun, "Microsimulation of Metropolitan Employment Deconcentration: Application of the UrbanSim Model in the Tel Aviv Region," in *Modelling Land Use Change: Progress and Applications,* edited by Eric Koomen, John Stillwell, Aldrik Bakema, and Henk J. Schloten (Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2007), 199-218; Eyal Ashbel, Hester Biemans, Daniel Felsenstein and Marianne Kuijpers, "Quality of Life Effects Associated with Employment Sprawl: Applications of the UrbanSim Microsimulation Model," paper presented at *Computers in Urban Planning and Urban Management Annual Meeting* (London, 2005).
- 23. Rodier et al., Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity.
- 24. John E. Abraham, and John D. Hunt, "Random Utility Location, Production, and Exchange Choice; Additive Logit Model; and Spatial Choice Microsimulations," *Transportation Research Record 2003* (Washington, DC: TRB, 2007).
- 25. John D. Hunt, and John E. Abraham, "Design and Implementation of PECAS: A Generalized System for the Allocation of Economic Production, Exchange and Consumption Quantities," in *Foundations of Integrated Land-Use and Transportation Models: Assumptions and New Conceptual Frameworks*, edited by M. E. H. Lee-Gosselin and S. T. Doherty (St Louis, MO: Elsevier, 2005), 253-274.
- 26. John E. Abraham, Gordon R. Gary, and John D. Hunt, "The Sacramento PECAS Model," paper presented at 2005 Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting (Washington DC, 2005).
- 27. Abraham and Hunt, "Random Utility Location."
- 28. Abraham et al., "Sacramento PECAS."
- 29. Ibid.
- 30. Ibid.
- 31. SACOG, Metropolitan Transportation Plan.

- 32. Carnegie Mellon University Green Design Institute, "Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment (EIO-LCA), US 2002 Benchmark Purchaser Model" (2012), http://www.eiolca.net (accessed May 30, 2012).
- 33. Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), Department of Commerce, "Benchmark Input-Output Data" (2007), http://www.bea.gov/industry/io_benchmark.htm (accessed January 3, 2012).
- 34. U.S. Census Bureau, "North American Industry Classification System," http://www.census.gov/eos/www/naics/, (accessed May 30, 2012).
- 35. U.S. Census Bureau, "County Business Patterns" (2012), http://www.census.gov/ econ/cbp/ (accessed May 13, 2012).
- Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), Department of Commerce, "Industry Economic Accounts" (2008), http://www.bea.gov/about/pdf/IED_Benchmark_FINAL.pdf (accessed January 3, 2012).
- 37. U.S. Census Bureau, "County Business Patterns."
- 38. Carl Heldmann, "How much does it cost to build a home in California?," (2012) http:// www.byoh.com/californiabuilding.htm (accessed January 15, 2012).
- 39. Rodier et al., Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity.
- 40. U.S. Census Bureau, "County Business Patterns."
- 41. USDA, "The Census of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service, County Profiles of California," (2007), http://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2007/ Online_Highlights/County_Profiles/California/index.asp (accessed May 30, 2012).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abraham, John E., Gordon R. Gary, and John D. Hunt. "The Sacramento PECAS Model." Paper presented at the 2005 Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting. Washington DC, 2005.
- Abraham, John E., and John D. Hunt. "Random Utility Location, Production, and Exchange Choice; Additive Logit Model; and Spatial Choice Microsimulations." *Transportation Research Record 2003.* Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2007.
- Ashbel, Eyal, Hester Biemans, Daniel Felsenstein and Marianne Kuijpers. "Quality of Life Effects Associated with Employment Sprawl: Applications of the UrbanSim Microsimulation Model." Paper presented at *Computers in Urban Planning and Urban Management Annual Meeting*. London, 2005.
- BCI, AUEB, ITS, JRC IPTS, KUL-SADL, LT, Novem, Spiekermann and Wegener, Stratec, TIS, TRL, TRT, TTR, and UPM. Scenarios for the Transport System and Energy Supply and Their Potential Effects: STEPs. Work Package 4 Scenario Impacts: Deliverable 4.2, 2006.
- Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), Department of Commerce. "Benchmark Input-Output Data." 2007. http://www.bea.gov/industry/io_benchmark.htm (accessed January 3, 2012).
- Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), Department of Commerce. "Industry Economic Accounts." 2008. http://www.bea.gov/about/pdf/IED_Benchmark_FINAL.pdf (accessed January 3, 2012).
- Carnegie Mellon University Green Design Institute. 2012. "Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment (EIO-LCA), US 2002 Benchmark Purchaser Model." http:// www.eiolca.net (accessed May 30, 2012).
- Castiglione, Joe, Rachel Hiatt, Tilly Chang, and Billy Charlton. "Application of Travel Demand Microsimulation Model and Equity Analysis." *Transportation Research Record 1977*. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2006.
- Deakin, Elizabeth, and Greig Harvey. *Transportation Pricing Strategies for California: An Assessment of Congestion, Emissions, Energy, and Equity Impacts.* Prepared for California Air Resources Board Contract No. 92-316. Sacramento, CA: State of California, 1996.
- Emrath, Paul. *Characteristics of Single-Family Homes Started in 2009.* National Association of Home Builders (NAHB), October 7, 2010.

- Eppli, Mark J and Charles Tu. *The Market Acceptance of Single-Family Housing Units in Smart Growth Communities.* White paper for Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Washington, DC, 2005.
- Felsenstein, Daniel, Eyal Ashbel, and Adi Ben-Nun. "Microsimulation of Metropolitan Employment Deconcentration: Application of the UrbanSim Model in the Tel Aviv Region." In *Modelling Land Use Change: Progress and Applications.* Edited by Eric Koomen, John Stillwell, Aldrik Bakema, and Henk J. Schloten. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2007, 199-218.
- Heldmann, Carl. "How much does it cost to build a home in California?" Web site *California Building*. 2012. http://www.byoh.com/californiabuilding.htm (accessed January 15, 2012).
- Horowitz, Mikhail. Size Matters (a Lot): The Mistreatment of House Size in Green Home Rating Systems.Montpelier, VT: Mikhail Horowitz, 2007.
- Hunt, John D. and John E. Abraham. "Design and Implementation of PECAS: A Generalized System for the Allocation of Economic Production, Exchange and Consumption Quantities." Pages 253-274 in *Foundations of Integrated Land-Use and Transportation Models: Assumptions and New Conceptual Frameworks*. Edited by M. E. H. Lee-Gosselin and S. T. Doherty. St Louis, MO: Elsevier, 2005.
- Johnston, Robert, Shengyi Gao, and Michael Clay. "Modeling Long-Range Transportation and Land Use Scenarios for the Sacramento Region, Using Citizen-Generated Policies." *Transportation Research Record* 1981. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2005.
- Lautso, K., K. Spiekermann, Michael Wegener, I. Sheppard, P. Steadman, A. Martino, R. Domingo, S. Gayda. *PROPOLIS: Planning and Research of Policies for Land Use and Transport for Increasing Urban Sustainability*. Helsinki: LT Consultants, 2004.
- Logan, Gregg, Stephanie Siejka, and Shyam Kannan. *The Market for Smart Growth*. Orlando, FL: Robert Charles Lesser and Company, LLC, 2009.
- Lucas, Karen, Greg Marsden, Michael Brooks, and Mary Kimble. "Assessment of Capabilities for Examining Long-Term Social Sustainability of Transport and Land Use Strategies." *Transportation Research Record 2013*. Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 2007.
- MVA. *Wider Economic Impacts of Transport Interventions: Final Report.* London, Department of Transportation, 2006.
- National Association of Home Builders (NAHB). Web site. No date. http://www.nahb.org/ (accessed May 13, 2012).

- Nelson, Peter, Kenneth Gillingham , and Elena Safirova. *Revving up the Tax Engine: Gas Taxes and the DC Metro Area's Transportation Dilemma.* Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2003.
- Quint, Rose. *The New Home in 2015.* National Association of Home Builders (NAHB), March 2, 2011.
- Rodier, Caroline, Ph.D., John E. Abraham, Ph.D., Brenda N. Dix, John D. Hunt, Ph.D. "Equity Analysis of Land Use and Transportation Plans Using an Integrated Spatial Model." In *Preprint for the 89th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board* (TRB). Washington, D.C.: TRB, 2010.
- Rodier, Caroline J. and Robert A. Johnston. "Travel, Emissions, and Consumer Welfare Effects of Travel Demand Management Measures." *Transportation Research Record 1598.* Washington, DC: Transportation Research Board, 1997.
- Rodier, Caroline, Robert Johnston, and John Abraham. "Heuristic Policy Analysis of Regional Land Use, Transit, and Travel Pricing Scenario Using Two Urban Models. *Transportation Research D*, 7 (2002):243-254.
- Rodier, Caroline, Robert Johnston, and David Shabazian. "Evaluation of Advanced Transit Alternatives Using Consumer Welfare." *Transportation Research C*, 6 (1998): 141-156.
- Rodier, Caroline, Ph.D., Margot Spillar M.S., M.C.P., John E. Abraham, Ph.D., and John D. Hunt, Ph.D. Potential Economic Consequences of Local Nonconformity to Regional Land Use and Transportation Plans Using a Spatial Economic Model. Mineta Transportation Institute (MTI) Report 2902. San Jose, CA: MTI, 2011.
- Sacramento Area Council of Governments (SACOG). *Metropolitan Transportation Plan.* Sacramento, CA: SACOG, 2008.
- Safirova, Elena, Sabastien Houde, and Winston Harrington. *Marginal Social Cost Pricing* on a Transportation Network: A Comparison of Second-Best Policies. Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2007.
- Safirova, Elena, Sabastien Houde, and Winston Harrington. *Spatial Development and Energy Consumption.* Washington DC: Resources for the Future, 2007.
- Sichelman, Lew. "Home Size Inching Up Again." *Urban Land Institute* Web site. February 8, 2011. http://urbanland.uli.org/Articles/2011/Feb/SichelmanHomeSizes (accessed May 13, 2012).
- Trilogy Partners Blog. "NAHB Predicts Greener Homes by 2015." See posting by "vkinny" on March 9, 2011. http://blog.trilogybuilds.com/around-town/nahb-predictsgreener-homes-by-2015/ (accessed May 13, 2012).

- U.S. Census Bureau. "Characteristics of New Housing." No date. http://www.census.gov/ construction/chars/ (accessed May 13, 2012).
- U.S. Census Bureau. "County Business Patterns." 2012. http://www.census.gov/econ/ cbp/ (accessed May 13, 2012).
- U.S. Census Bureau. "North American Industry Classification System." http://www. census.gov/eos/www/naics/ (accessed May 30, 2012).
- USDA. "The Census of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service, County Profiles of California." 2007. http://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2007/ Online_Highlights/County_Profiles/California/index.asp (accessed May 30, 2012).
- Weber, Christopher, Deanna Matthews, Aranya Venkatesh, Christine Costello, and H. Scott Mathews. *The 2002 US Benchmark Version of the Economic Input-Output Life Cycle Assessment (EIO-LCA) Model*. Last updated March 23, 2010. Pittsburgh, PA: Carnegie Mellon, 2010. http://www.eiolca.net/docs/fulldocument-2002-042310.pdf (accessed May 13, 2012).
- Wilson, Alex and Jessica Boehland. "Small Is Beautiful U.S. House Size, Resource Use, and the Environment." *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 9 (2005): 277–287.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

CAROLINE RODIER, PH.D.

Dr. Caroline Rodier is Associate Director of the Urban Land Use and Transportation Center (ULTRANS) at the University of California, Davis. Her major areas of research include transportation and environmental planning and policy analysis. She has extensive experience applying land use and transportation demand models to evaluate the travel, economic, equity, and air quality effects of a wide range of transportation and land use policies, including intelligent transportation systems technologies, high occupancy vehicle lanes, transit improvements, road pricing, and land use control measures. Most recently, she has applied the Sacramento PECAS model with the SACSIM model to evaluate the equity, consumer surplus, and producer surplus of the Blueprint Plan for the Sacramento region. Dr. Rodier has also provided extensive research support to the California Air Resources Board in their development of the scoping plan for California Assembly Bill 32, the Global Warming Solutions Act, including an international review of the modeling evidence on the effectiveness of transit, land use, and auto pricing strategies.

ELLIOT MARTIN, PH.D.

Dr. Elliot William Martin is an Assistant Research Engineer at the Transportation Sustainability Research Center (TSRC) within the Institute of Transportation Studies at University of California, Berkeley. He holds a Ph.D. in Civil and Environmental Engineering and a dual Masters in Transportation Engineering and City Planning, all from University of California, Berkeley. Previously, he worked as an Assistant Economist at the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond. He graduated from Johns Hopkins University with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and Computer Science.

MARGOT SPILLER, M.S., M.C.P.

Margot Spiller works as a junior specialist at the Urban Land Use and Transportation Center. She received her B.S. from Massachusetts Institute of Technology and M.S. in Transportation Engineering and City Planning from University of California, Berkeley. She ultimately plans to work as a transportation engineer and planner. Her research interests include the land use and transportation connection and emissions reductions from the transportation sector. This is her second co-authored report.

JOHN ABRAHAM, PH.D.

Dr. John Abraham has been involved in computer simulations of transportation systems since 1989, when he developed commercial software for pipeline simulations. In 1992, he began to study urban systems, emphasizing models of the interaction between land use and transportation. Dr. Abraham's 1994 M.Sc. thesis explored the locational choices of multi-worker households in an urban setting by extending the state-of-the-art in behavioral modeling techniques. His 2000 Ph.D. thesis investigated calibration and validation processes for urban models.

JOHN D. HUNT, PH.D.

Dr. John Douglas Hunt is a professor in Transportation Engineering and Planning in the Civil Engineering Department at the University of Calgary. Dr. Hunt received his B.Sc. at the University of Alberta in 1981 and his Ph.D. at Cambridge in 1988. Dr. Hunt's research interests include mathematical modeling of transportation-related aspects of human behavior, with primary areas of focus in the interaction between transportation and land use; stated response techniques for obtaining data for estimation of model parameters; and automobile parking behavior and parking policy. His recent and on-going activities include: developing a land use and transport model of Edmonton using the MEPLAN framework; participating in a study to compare land use and transport models of Sacramento based on alternative modeling frameworks; advising two British Rail subsidiaries, Union Railways and European Passenger Services, on the forecasting of the demand for international rail services using the Channel Tunnel; conducting a study using stated response techniques to measure and quantify Calgarians' attitudes to elements of urban form, including mobility, density, taxes and the environment; developing a model of mode and parking location choice in Calgary using the EMME/2 framework; investigating methods of representing the joint choice of workplace location, home location and travel mode to work using data collected in Calgary. Professor Hunt was the recipient of the departmental teaching excellence award in 2002.

PEER REVIEW

San José State University, of the California State University system, and the MTI Board of Trustees have agreed upon a peer review process required for all research published by MTI. The purpose of the review process is to ensure that the results presented are based upon a professionally acceptable research protocol.

Research projects begin with the approval of a scope of work by the sponsoring entities, with in-process reviews by the MTI Research Director and the Research Associated Policy Oversight Committee (RAPOC). Review of the draft research product is conducted by the Research Committee of the Board of Trustees and may include invited critiques from other professionals in the subject field. The review is based on the professional propriety of the research methodology.

MTI FOUNDER

Hon. Norman Y. Mineta

MTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Honorary Chairman John L. Mica (Ex-Officio) Chair House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee House of Representatives

Honorary Co-Chair, Honorable Nick Rahall (Ex-Officio) Vice Chairman House Transportation and Infrastructure Committee House of Representatives

Chair, Mortimer Downey (TE 2013) Senior Advisor PB Consult Inc.

Vice Chair, Steve Heminger (TE 2013) Executive Director Metropolitan Transportation Commission

Executive Director Rod Diridon* (TE 2011) Mineta Transportation Institute

Thomas E. Barron (TE 2013) President Parsons Transportation Group

Ignacio Barron de Angoiti (Ex-Officio) Director Passenger and High Speed Department International Union of Railways (UIC) Joseph Boardman (Ex-Officio) Chief Executive Officer Amtrak

Donald H. Camph (TE 2012) President California Institute for Technology Exchange

Anne P. Canby (TE 2011) President Surface Transportation Policy Project

Julie Cunningham (TE 2013) Executive Director/CEO Conference of Minority Transportation Officials

William Dorey (TE 2012) President/CEO Granite Construction Inc.

Malcolm Dougherty (Ex-Officio) Acting Director California Department of Transportation

Nuria I. Fernandez (TE 2013) Senior Vice President Major Programs Group CHRMHill

Rose Guilbault (TE 2012) Vice President American Automobile Association

Ed Hamberger (Ex-Officio) President/CEO Association of American Railroads John Horsley (Ex-Officio)* Executive Director American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO)

Will Kempton (TE 2012) CEO Orange County Transportation Authority

Michael P. Melaniphy

(Ex-Officio) President & CEO American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

William Millar* (Ex-Officio) President American Public Transportation Association (APTA)

Norman Y. Mineta (Ex-Officio) Vice Chairman Hill & Knowlton Secretary of Transportation (ret.)

Stephanie L. Pinson (TE 2013) President/COO Gilbert Tweed Associates, Inc.

David Steele (Ex-Officio) Dean, College of Business San José State University

Paul Toliver* (TE 2013) President New Age Industries Michael S. Townes (TE 2011) President/CEO (ret.) Transportation District Commision of Hampton Roads

David L. Turney* (TE 2012) Chairman, President & CEO Digital Recorders, Inc.

Edward Wytkind (Ex-Officio) President Transportation Trades Department, AFL-CIO

* Honorary

Vice Chair
Past Chair

Chair

Directors

Hon. Rod Diridon, Sr. Executive Director

Karen E. Philbrick, Ph.D. Research Director

Peter Haas, Ph.D. Education Director

Donna Maurillo Communications Director

Brian Michael Jenkins National Transportation Security Center

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. National Transportation Finance Center

Research Associates Policy Oversight Committee

Asha Weinstein Agrawal, Ph.D. Urban and Regional Planning San José State University

Jan Botha, Ph.D. Civil & Environmental Engineering San José State University

Katherine Kao Cushing, Ph.D. Enviromental Science San José State University

Dave Czerwinski, Ph.D. Marketing and Decision Science San José State University **Frances Edwards, Ph.D.** Political Science San José State University

Taeho Park, Ph.D. Organization and Management San José State University

Diana Wu Martin Luther King, Jr. Library San José State University





Funded by U.S. Department of Transportation and California Department of Transportation